## Kolmogorov's ideas in the theory of operations on sets

## V.G. Kanovei

#### CONTENTS

Foreword		111
Introduction		114
§1.	Introduction to the theory of operations on sets	115
§2.	The Kolmogorov hierarchy	119
§3.	The <i>R</i> -transform	124
§4.	Inductive analysis. Indices	132
§5.	R-sets: construction of the hierarchy	136
§6.	The nature of R-sets	139
§7.	Properties of R-sets	1,49
<b>§</b> 8.	Kolmogorov's problem on the lengths of Borel hierarchies	150
Conclusion		151
References		152

#### Foreword

The theory of operations on sets is one area of mathematics in which the role of Kolmogorov is generally recognized, as the originator of the subject and contributor of the principal concepts and the first fundamental results. It is quite true, as asserted by Novikov and Lyapunov in the survey article "Descriptive set theory" [26], that the whole theory of operations on sets originates from work carried out in the 20's by Kolmogorov. The first part of his study, dated January 1922, appeared in the paper "Operations on sets" [1], where the foundations of a general theory of operations are laid down:

— the definition of a  $\delta s$ -operation;

- the definition of the complement of a given operation;

- the theorem on complements, according to which every  $\delta s$ -operation can be used to produce from closed sets a set whose complement cannot be so obtained;

— a general method for constructing a hierarchy of classes of point sets, indexed by the finite and countable ordinals: this is based on the joint application of a given  $\delta s$ -operation and its complement;

- the theorem on non-vacuousness of the classes: under wide conditions on the initial operation this guarantees that the resulting hierarchy does not degenerate at a countable level.

The second part was published under the same title [2] in the third volume of Kolmogorov's selected works [6]. In it he introduced the R-transform into set theory—an exceptionally important concept, associated with the most productive line of investigation in the classical theory of operations and of very significant interest to current experts. This second part, which remained unpublished for more than half a century (it is dated February 1922) was, however, as stated in the introductory words 'From the author' in [2], made available to a number of experts in descriptive set theory.

The memoir "Operations on sets" (both parts) was a rich source of ideas for later research by those following Kolmogorov in this domain. Kantorovich and Livenson in the extensive two-part "Memoir on the analytical operations and projective sets" [10], [11] developed a general theory of analytic operations, which also covers the  $\delta s$ -operations, characterized within this wider class by the property of 'positivity'. The second part of their memoir includes, with an acknowledgement to Kolmogorov's "kind permission", certain material from the manuscript [2], including the definition of the *R*-transform.

Using the idea, included in [2], of the interchange of the *R*-transform with passage to the complementary operation, Lyapunov constructed ([19], [20]) what is known as the normal series of *R*-operations, and introduced the class of *R*-sets, obtained from closed sets by applying the normal series. To a large extent, Lyapunov based the proofs of the basic theorems about *R*-sets on an analysis and reworking of what had been done by Kolmogorov. Such results, in Lyapunov's most significant contribution "*R*-sets" [20], as the construction of the classes and subclasses of the hierarchy of *R*-sets and the proof that these are non-empty, the proof of measurability for the *R*-sets, the partitioning of *R*-sets into  $\aleph_1$  Borel sets, the development of an apparatus of indices for the *R*-transform—all these were direct extensions of the ideas and constructions in [2].

And this important piece of research on "Operations on sets", which opened up a new area of set theory, was carried out by an 18-year-old student who had only just recently been invited by N.N. Luzin to join his group. Reminiscing about the years of his youth in the commentary "Papers in the theory of functions and set theory" [5], pp. 363-364, Kolmogorov rather delicately indicates that his plan for research in set theory turned "in a direction not envisaged by Luzin". We shall probably never know the exact form in which disapproval from the then leader of the Moscow mathematicians actually manifested itself in this situation, nor the extent to which this may have influenced a very young man taking his first steps in research. However, it is undoubtedly true that in his published work on set theory Luzin never referred to Kolmogorov's contributions, while Kolmogorov himself essentially never returned subsequently to this area in his published papers (if we except the article [3] written in honour of P.S. Aleksandrov) even though, as is stated in the commentary referred to above, he had an extensive plan for further research at the time. One can but regret the loss to set theory as a whole that was brought about by Kolmogorov's departure from the field.

With Lyapunov's work on *R*-sets the classical theory of operations on sets took on a definitive form, on the whole. The concepts and methods introduced by Kolmogorov had proved to be conclusive in the sphere of the traditional problems of descriptive set theory and the classical descriptive problem area<sup>(1)</sup>. Later research (beginning in the 50's) had as its principal purpose the extension of classical results to the case of uncountable indices and arbitrary topological spaces, with a study of the resulting effects. Thus, the theory of operations on sets gradually diverged from the clear descriptive direction initially inherent in it and emphasized by Kolmogorov in his commentary referred to above. It is possible that this fact, and also the exceptionally difficult notation and techniques in the theory of operations in the version arising from Lyapunov's work (in sharp contrast with the brilliant style of the papers [1], [2], and [3]), was responsible for the subsequent absence of real progress in this field and its separation from the mainstream of the development of set theory.

However, the last 20-25 years have been a period of exceptionally rapid development in set-theoretical investigations, based on fundamental discoveries such as the apparatus of constructive sets, the method of forcing, the general notion of recursion, infinite games, and determinacy. The new methods have led to the complete solution (in most cases, in the form of a proof of undecidability) of many fundamental problems of set theory, such as, for example, the continuum problem, the problem of measurability of projective sets, problems of separation and uniformization for the projective classes, and problems on the constituents. Neither has this development left the theory of operations on sets to one side. Thus, at the beginning of the 80's a "game-theoretical" representation of *R*-sets was found, together with a simpler construction of C-sets, from which it became clear that the Borel sets, the C-sets, and the R-sets constitute the three initial levels of a certain natural hierarchy. It became possible definitively to clarify the relationship between the *R*-sets and the sets of the second projective level. In their turn, the concepts of the theory of operations lie at the heart of certain fundamental definitions of the general theory of recursion, and Kolmogorov's construction of the R-transform is now regarded as the first example of an infinite game with perfect information.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>(1)</sup>For the development of descriptive set theory and the main ideas and results, see the surveys [26], [13], [33], and [9].

The present author has for some time had in mind the preparation of a survey article describing the evolution of the ideas which were introduced by Kolmogorov as a basis for the theory of operations on sets, and the form that these ideas have taken or are taking in modern set-theoretical research, and also clarifying some points of terminology and priority that have not always been completely or accurately covered in the literature. It is a sad circumstance, tragic for world mathematics, that has given a reason and an opportunity for the accomplishment of this purpose.

#### Introduction

The present paper is not, strictly speaking, a survey article on the theory of operations on sets, and does not claim to present a complete analysis of all lines of research in this area. Rather, as can be inferred from the title, it is concerned only with research carried out under the influence of Kolmogorov's ideas, or exhibiting them from a new and more modern point of view<sup>(1)</sup>. Naturally, a certain amount of space (§§1 and 2) is given up to an exposition of the foundations of the theory of operations as created by Kolmogorov.

Most attention is paid to Kolmogorov's *R*-transform—one of the most significant discoveries in the whole of classical descriptive set theory. In §3 the initial definition of the *R*-transform is given, together with the modern reformulation in the language of infinite games and generalized quantifiers, and certain methods of proof in connection with these transforms. Then §4 is devoted to the method of indices (inductive analysis)—the principal technique of both the classical and, along with 'game-theoretical' analysis, also the modern theory of operations on sets. Kolmogorov introduced this method in [2] in a general form, aware of the earlier construction of indices in a special case (the *A*-operation) carried out by Luzin and Sierpiński. Within the framework of a 'game-theoretical' approach, the method of indices takes the form of the definition of winning positions.

In §5 we give Lyapunov's definition of R-sets by means of his construction of the operations of the normal series. In §6, modern ideas of the nature of R-sets are considered, obtained by a deep re-working and far-reaching generalizations of Kolmogorov's ideas and constructions from [2]. Then §7 gives a short survey of research on R-sets.

The concluding §8 is concerned with the Kolmogorov problem (published [4] in 1935) on the length of the Borel hierarchy, which has attracted a great deal of interest and recently received a complete solution.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>(1)</sup>For other directions of research in the theory see [13], [23]-[26], [29], [30], and [36].

#### §1. Introduction to the theory of operations on sets

Keeping to chronological order, we first consider the definition of a  $\delta s$ -operation given by Kolmogorov in [1], and examples of such operations, and we then pass to the more general concept of an analytical operation due to Kantorovich and Livenson.

## The concept of a $\delta s$ -operation.

Let us fix some non-empty set I—the *index set*. Subsets of this, that is, sets  $U \subseteq I$ , are called *chains*, and sets of chains *bases*; thus a basis is an arbitrary set  $Q \subseteq \mathscr{P}(I)$ , where  $\mathscr{P}(I)$  denotes the set of all  $U \subseteq I$ .

To avoid trivialities, it is usually assumed that a basis is non-empty and does not contain the empty chain:  $Q \neq \emptyset$  and  $\emptyset \notin Q$ . The two operations excluded by this stipulation will be referred to later.

Every basis  $Q \subseteq \mathscr{P}(I)$  gives rise to an operation  $\Phi_Q$ , acting on an *I*-indexed family  $\{X_i: i \in I\} = \{X_i\}$  of sets  $X_i$ , according to the following definition [1]:

$$\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}}\{X_i\} = \Phi_{\mathcal{Q}}\{X_i: i \in I\} = \bigcup_{U \in \mathcal{Q}} \bigcap_{i \in U} X_i.$$

The name of  $\delta s$ -operations has become attached to operations of the form  $\Phi_Q$ ; the terminology is due to Hausdorff, who arrived independently at the same definition in [34]; Kolmogorov does not give them any particular name in [1].

One and the same  $\delta s$ -operation can be determined, in general, by various different bases; a necessary and sufficient condition for  $\Phi_Q = \Phi_P$  is that

(1) 
$$\forall U \in Q \exists V \in P(V \subseteq U) \land \forall V \in P \exists U \in Q(U \subseteq V).$$

Nevertheless, among all the bases yielding a given  $\delta s$ -operation  $\Phi$ , we can single out the unique basis

(2) 
$$Q(\Phi) = \Phi\{E_i: i \in I\}, \text{ where } E_i = \{U \subseteq I: i \in U\},\$$

that satisfies the condition of *completeness*, that is, together with any chain  $U \in Q$  it also contains every chain  $V \subseteq I$  such that  $U \subseteq V$ . This unique complete basis for  $\Phi$  may also be obtained from any other basis Q for  $\Phi$  by means of the formula

(3) 
$$Q(\Phi) = \{V \subseteq I : \exists U \in Q(U \subseteq V)\}.$$

*Examples* (Kolmogorov [1]). The class of  $\delta s$ -operations includes, in particular, union and intersection:

$$\bigcup_{I} \{X_i\} = \bigcup_{i \in I} X_i; \quad \bigcap_{I} \{X_i\} = \bigcap_{i \in I} X_i$$

for an *I*-indexed family of sets. Complete bases for the operations  $\bigcup_{I}$  and  $\bigcap_{I}$  are as follows:

$$Q(\bigcup_{I}) = \{ U \subseteq I \colon U \neq \emptyset \}; \quad Q(\bigcap_{I}) = \{I\}.$$

The basis is the only one possible for intersection, but  $\bigcup_{I}$  can be given in the form  $\Phi_Q$  for any basis Q containing all one-element chains  $U = \{i\}, i \in I$  (but not containing the empty chain).

Another example is Aleksandrov's A-operation, which he used in [7] to solve the problem of the cardinality of Borel sets. The index set of the A-operation is the collection

$$S = \{ \langle a_0, a_1, \ldots, a_m \rangle : a_0, a_1, a_2, \ldots, a_m \in \omega \}^{(1)}$$

of all strings of natural numbers  $a_k$  of arbitrary finite length m + 1. The result of the A-operation on an S-indexed family  $\{X_s: s \in S\}$  is defined as follows:

$$A\{X_{a_0\ldots a_m}\}=\bigcup_{\alpha}\bigcap_{m\in\omega}X_{a_0\ldots a_m},$$

where the union is taken over all infinite sequences  $\alpha = \langle a_0, a_1, a_2, ... \rangle$  of natural numbers  $a_k$ . Thus the A-operation is the  $\delta s$ -operation with basis consisting of all possible chains of the form

$$U = \{\{a_0\}, \{a_0, a_1\}, \{a_0, a_1, a_2\}, \ldots \}$$

(of course this basis is not complete).

The above operations may be described as the simplest ones. The most useful way of constructing more complicated operations is by using various transformations through which new  $\delta s$ -operations may be constructed from existing ones. Three classical transformations of  $\delta s$ -operations are well known: passage to the complementary operation, superposition, and the *R*-transform; they were all introduced by Kolmogorov, in [1] and [2]. Leaving aside the *R*-transform until §3, we now consider the simpler first two.

#### The complementary operation.

Assuming that all the sets in question are situated within some fixed set  $\mathscr{X}$ , for  $X \subseteq \mathscr{X}$  we denote by  $\breve{X}$  the complement of X, that is,  $\breve{X} = \mathscr{X} - X$ . The operation  $\breve{\Phi}$  complementary to a given  $\delta s$ -operation  $\Phi$  is defined by

$$\widecheck{\Phi}\{\widecheck{X}_i\} = \widecheck{X} \leftrightarrow \Phi\{X_i\} = X.$$

The operation  $\Phi$  is a  $\delta s$ -operation along with  $\Phi$ , and a complete basis  $\breve{Q}$  for it may be derived from any basis Q of  $\Phi$ :

(4) 
$$\widecheck{Q} = \{V \subseteq I \colon \forall U \in Q(U \cap V \neq \emptyset)\},\$$

(1)  $\omega = \{0, 1, 2, \ldots\}$  is the set of all natural numbers.

116

where if Q is complete the formula can be simplified to

It is easy to see that the operations  $\bigcup$  and  $\bigcap$  are mutually complementary.

The  $\Gamma$ -operation, complementary to the *A*-operation, was constructed by Aleksandrov in [8].

## Superposition.

The sets obtained as the result of applying some  $\delta s$ -operation may themselves serve as arguments for other operations. However, such a double application can be replaced by a single one by means of Kolmogorov's superposition scheme.

Let a  $\delta s$ -operation  $\Phi$  be given with index set *I*, and let a  $\delta s$ -operation  $\Phi_i$ , with index set  $I_i$ , be associated with each  $i \in I$ . Then we can define a new  $\delta s$ -operation  $\Theta = \Phi \mid \{\Phi_i : i \in I\}$  with index set

$$J = I \mid \{I_i\} = \{\langle i, j \rangle : i \in I \land j \in J_i\},\$$

which acts on a J-indexed family:

$$\Theta\{X_{ij}: \langle i, j \rangle \in J\} = \Phi\{\Phi_i\{X_{ij}: j \in I_i\}: i \in I\}.$$

In other words, we first construct the sets

$$X_i = \Phi_i \{ X_{ij} : j \in I_i \}, i \in I,$$

and then apply the operation  $\Phi$  to these in order to obtain the final result.

In order to define a basis for  $\Theta$ , we fix a basis Q of  $\Phi$  and for each  $i \in I$  a basis  $Q_i$  of  $\Phi_i$ . The required basis for  $\Theta$  can consist of all chians of the form

$$V = \{ \langle i, j \rangle : i \in U \land j \in U_i \},\$$

where  $U \in Q$  and  $U_i \in Q_i$  for all *i*.

In the important special case when each operation  $\Phi_i$  is identical with some fixed  $\delta s$ -operation  $\Phi'$ , we agree to denote the superposition  $\Phi \mid \{\Phi_i\}$ by  $\Phi \Phi'$ . For example, the operation  $\bigcup \bigcap$  acts on an  $I \times J$ -indexed family:

$$\bigcup_{I} \bigcap_{J} \{X_{ij}\} = \bigcup_{i \in I} \bigcap_{j \in J} X_{ij}.$$

## Comparison of operations.

Intuitively, an operation  $\Psi$  is stronger than an operation  $\Phi$  if the action of the second can be replaced by the action of the first. This intuitive idea can be made precise in two ways, as indicated by Kolmogorov in [1].

First,  $\Psi$  is stronger than  $\Phi$  (in the non-strict sense)—in symbols  $\Phi \leq \Psi$  when there exists a mapping f of the index set J of  $\Psi$  into the index set I of  $\Phi$  such that for every *I*-indexed family of sets  $\{X_i: i \in I\}$  we have

(5) 
$$\Phi\{X_i: i \in I\} = \Psi\{X_{j(j)}: j \in J\}.$$

Second, denote by  $\Theta(K)$  the collection of all sets which may be obtained by a single application of the  $\delta s$ -operation  $\Theta$  to a family of sets from the class K: for example,  $\bigcup_{\omega} (K)$  is the collection of all countable unions of sets from K. Now the second definition is that  $\Phi \leq \Psi$  if  $\Phi(K) \subseteq \Psi(K)$  for every

class K. Fortunately, the two definitions are equivalent (this is referred to as a fact in [1] and proved rigorously in [10]). Indeed, let two  $\delta s$ -operations  $\Phi, \Psi$ satisfy  $\Phi \leq \Psi$  in the second sense. For a family of sets  $E_i$  of the form (2) we obtain

$$\Phi\{E_i: i \in I\} = \Psi\{E_{i(j)}: j \in J\},\$$

where f is a suitable mapping of J into I. It is easy to see that this mapping f also satisfies (5) for any other family  $\{X_i\}$ , which proves that  $\Phi \leq \Psi$  in the first sense.

The implication in the opposite direction is trivial.

As usual, we define  $\Psi \approx \Psi$  to mean that both  $\Phi \leq \Psi$  and  $\Psi \leq \Phi$ ; such operations are called equivalent. Finally,  $\Phi < \Psi$  if  $\Phi \leq \Psi$  holds but not  $\Psi \leq \Phi$ .

Example:  $\bigcup_{\omega} \leq A$ , where the corresponding function  $f: S \to \omega$  satisfying (5) may be defined as follows:

$$f(\langle a_0, \ldots, a_m \rangle) = a_m.$$

Moreover  $\bigcup_{n \in A} A$  in the strict sense, since it is known that the class A(Int)

of all sets obtained by the A-operation from open intervals on the real line (that is, the class of Suslin or A-sets, constructed by Suslin in [32]) is much wider than the class  $\bigcup_{\omega}$  (Int) of all open sets on the line.

One equally easily sees that  $\bigcap_{m} < A$ .

#### Analytic operations.

Thus certain important operations on sets are included among the  $\delta s$ -operations. On the other hand, for example, the symmetric difference  $X\Delta Y = (X - Y) \cup (Y - X)$ , the taking of the complement of a set, and projection are not  $\delta s$ -operations. What is the property characterizing the  $\delta s$ -operations among all set-theoretical constructions? This question was considered by Kantorovich and Livenson in [10]. They call an operation  $\Psi$  acting on an *I*-indexed family of sets *analytic* if the question of whether a point x belongs to the set  $X = \Psi\{X_i\}$  is completely determined by the set of indices *i* for which  $x \in X_i$ . More precisely, it is required that for any pair of points x, y and any two families  $\{X_i\}, \{Y_i\}$  we have

$$\forall i (x \in X_i \leftrightarrow y \in Y_i) \rightarrow (x \in \Psi\{X_i\} \leftrightarrow y \in \Psi\{Y_i\}).$$

An analytic operation is called *positive* in [10] if from  $X_i \subseteq Y_i$  for all *i* it follows that  $\Psi\{X_i\} \subseteq \Psi\{Y_i\}$ .

Each  $\delta s$ -operation is analytic and positive, clearly. But the converse is also true, and is proved in [10]: every positive analytic operation  $\Phi$  is a  $\delta s$ -operation, with a complete basis obtainable from (2).

Kantorovich and Livenson also showed that an analytic operation (not necessarily positive) admits a representation

(6) 
$$\Psi\{X_i\} = \Psi_Q\{X_i\} = \bigcup_{U \in Q} [(\bigcap_{i \in U} X_i) \cap (\bigcap_{i \notin U} \widetilde{X}_i)],$$

where  $Q \subseteq \mathscr{P}(I)$ , and in terms of this representation the positive (that is,  $\delta s$ -) operations are characterized among all the analytic operations by the condition of completeness (or extensiveness) of the basis Q:

 $U \in Q \land U \subseteq V \subseteq I \to V \in Q,$ 

under which  $\Phi_Q = \Psi_Q$  is a  $\delta s$ -operation.

Analytic operations represented in the form (6) are called *set-theoretical* operations by Lyapunov in [20].

One example of a non-positive analytic operation is the operation C of taking the complement of a set:  $CX = \breve{X}$ . This is a unary operation, whose index set contains just one element—for example,  $I = \{1\}$ . Taking the basis  $Q = \{\emptyset\}$  with the single empty chain  $\emptyset$ , we obtain  $\Psi_Q \{X_1\} = \breve{X}_1$ ; that is,  $C = \Psi_{(\bullet)}$ .

## The degenerate $\delta s$ -operations.

These are the "null" operation  $\mathbb{O}$  with the empty basis  $Q_0 = \Phi$ , and the "unit" operation 1 with the basis  $Q_1 = \mathscr{F}(I)$  consisting of all chains, including the empty chain  $\Phi$ . The actions of these operations

$$\mathbb{O} = \Phi_{Q_0} = \Psi_{Q_0}; \quad \mathbb{I} = \Phi_{Q_1} = \Psi_{Q_1}$$

is very simple:  $\mathbb{O}\{X_i\} = \emptyset$  and  $\mathbb{I}\{X_i\} = \mathcal{X}$ , where  $\mathcal{X}$  is the underlying space in which all sets under consideration are situated (we take the intersection  $\bigcap_{i \in \phi} X_i$  over the empty chain to be equal to  $\mathcal{X}$  independently of the choice of sets  $X_i \subseteq \mathcal{X}$ ).

There exists, however, a property that distinguishes  $\mathbb{O}$  and  $\mathbb{I}$  from the  $\delta s$ -operations: for any operation  $\Phi = \Phi_Q$  apart from these two, if we put  $X_i = X$  for all *i* in the index set of  $\Phi$  then we obtain  $\Phi\{X_i\} = X$ . Of course this is not true for  $\mathbb{O}$  and  $\mathbb{I}$ .

## §2. The Kolmogorov hierarchy

Having given the definition of a  $\delta s$ -operation, Kolmogorov considers in [1] the structure of the smallest class  $\nabla(\Phi)$  of sets in a given space, containing all closed sets and closed under the application of a fixed operation  $\Phi$  and the operation of complementation. There is a large set of combinations of  $\Phi$  and complementation, but Kolmogorov finds it possible to assign the sets

#### V.G. Kanovei

of  $\nabla(\Phi)$  to classes of increasing complexity, indexed by finite and infinite ordinals.

Taking account of the modern system of definitions and notation in descriptive set theory, it is most convenient to use the notations  $\Sigma_{\alpha}^{\Phi}$ ,  $\Pi_{\alpha}^{\Phi}$ ,  $\Delta_{\alpha}^{\Phi}$  for the classes in the Kolmogorov hierarchy, where  $\Phi$  is a given  $\delta s$ -operation and  $\alpha$  is an ordinal number, with respect to which the construction of the classes proceeds by transfinite induction.

The initial level is formed of the classes

$$\Sigma_0^{\Phi} = \mathbf{G}, \quad \Pi_0^{\Phi} = \mathbf{F}, \quad \Delta_0^{\Phi} = \mathbf{G} \cap \mathbf{F}$$

for all open sets, all closed sets, and all open-and-closed sets respectively. For  $\alpha \ge 1$  we put

$$\Sigma^{\mathbf{\Phi}}_{lpha} = \Phi \left( igcup_{\gamma < lpha} \widetilde{\Pi}^{\mathbf{\Phi}}_{\gamma} 
ight), \quad \Pi^{\mathbf{\Phi}}_{lpha} = \widecheck{\Phi} \left( igcup_{\gamma < lpha} \Sigma^{\mathbf{\Phi}}_{\gamma} 
ight)$$

and, finally,  $\Delta_{\alpha}^{\Phi} = \Sigma_{\alpha}^{\Phi} \cap \Pi_{\alpha}^{\Phi}$ . Thus the class  $\Sigma_{\alpha}^{\Phi}$  is formed by the action of  $\Phi$  on all families of sets of the classes  $\Pi_{\gamma}^{\Phi}$ ,  $\gamma < \alpha$ , and the class  $\Pi_{\alpha}^{\Phi}$  in a similar way using the complementary operation  $\Phi$  on the sets of the classes  $\Sigma_{\gamma}^{\Phi}$ ,  $\gamma < \alpha$ . It is clear that  $\Sigma_{\alpha}^{\Phi}$  consists, for every  $\alpha$ , of the complements of the  $\Pi_{\alpha}^{\Phi}$  sets (and only these).

The construction of the classes stabilizes at the first ordinal of power strictly greater than that of the index set I of  $\Phi$  (or at the first infinite ordinal  $\omega$ , if I is finite). In particular, if I is at most countable, then stabilization occurs no later than at the first uncountable ordinal  $\omega_1$  (classically  $\Omega$ ), and we have

$$\nabla \left( \Phi \right) = \Sigma^{\Phi}_{\omega_1} = \Pi^{\Phi}_{\omega_1} = \Delta^{\Phi}_{\omega_1} = \Sigma^{\Phi}_{\beta} = \Pi^{\Phi}_{\beta} = \Delta^{\Phi}_{\beta} \quad \text{for} \quad \beta \geqslant \omega_1$$

*Examples.* 1. If  $\Phi = \bigcup_{\omega}$  is countable union, then  $\nabla(\Phi)$  coincides with the class B of all Borel sets in the given space, and  $\Sigma_{\alpha}^{\Phi}$ ,  $\Pi_{\alpha}^{\Phi}$ ,  $\Delta_{\alpha}^{\Phi}$  are the classes of the Borel hierarchy. More precisely, if we use the definitions  $\Sigma_{\alpha}^{0}$ ,  $\Pi_{\alpha}^{0}$ ,  $\Delta_{\alpha}^{0}$  of the latter from [41], §2, then

$$\Sigma^{\Phi}_{\alpha} = \Sigma^{0}_{1+lpha}, \quad \Pi^{\Phi}_{\alpha} = \Pi^{0}_{1+lpha}, \quad \Delta^{\Phi}_{\alpha} = \Delta^{0}_{1+lpha}.$$

2. Let  $\Phi$  be the A-operation. Then  $\nabla(\Lambda) = C$  is "Luzin's C-domain" as it is phrased in [1], or the class of all C-sets, first constructed in Selivanovskii's paper [31]; the classes  $\Sigma_{\alpha}^{A}$ ,  $\Pi_{\alpha}^{A}$ ,  $\Delta_{\alpha}^{A}$  are identical with those in the hierarchy of C-sets.

Remark. In [1], Kolmogorov carried out the construction of the above hierarchy (of course with a different notation for the classes) with sets of the real line **R** in view. In modern research on descriptive set theory the underlying space is usually taken to be the more convenient Baire space  $\mathcal{N}^{\circ} = \omega^{\circ}$ , consisting of all infinite sequences  $a = \langle a_0, a_1, a_2, ... \rangle$  of natural numbers  $a_k$ , endowed with the Tikhonov product topology (with the discrete topology on  $\omega$ ). Both the spaces **R** and  $\mathscr{N}$  are examples of what are (now) called Polish spaces, that is, separable, metrizable with a complete metric, and (to avoid trivialities) without isolated points. All these spaces are very much alike, if not identical, with respect to the operations considered in the theory of operations on sets, and below we shall assume that the underlying space is (perfect and) Polish.

### Monotonicity.

The first requirement that might be imposed on a hierarchy of any kind is that each of the classes should contain all sets of the preceding classes, that is, for the Kolmogorov hierarchy that

$$\Sigma^{\Phi}_{\alpha} \cup \Pi^{\Phi}_{\alpha} \subseteq \Delta^{\Phi}_{\beta}$$
 for  $\alpha < \beta$ .

This condition is of course satisfied if  $\beta \ge 2$ , whereas for  $\beta = 1$  we obtain the inclusion  $\mathbf{G} \subseteq \Phi(\mathbf{F})$  (and the equivalent  $\mathbf{F} \subseteq \widetilde{\Phi}(\mathbf{G})$ ), which is not satisfied for  $\Phi = \bigcap_{\omega}$ , for example. The simplest way of guaranteeing the inclusion is to require that the operation  $\Phi$  should be stronger (in the nonstrict sense, that is,  $\ge$ ) than  $\bigcup_{\omega}$ , and then we obtain  $\mathbf{G} \subseteq \Phi(\mathbf{F})$ , since  $\mathbf{G} \subseteq \mathbf{F}_{\sigma}$ in Polish (and in general in all metrizable) spaces. We mention that the inequality  $\Phi \ge \bigcup_{\omega}$  is valid for all the operations  $\Phi$ , except  $\bigcap_{\omega}$ , which are considered in practice in the theory of Borel sets, *C*-sets, and *R*-sets.

#### Theorem on the non-vacuousness of the classes.

The second basic question is as follows: does each level of the hierarchy contain sets which are not in the preceding level? This is in general a typical question for hierarchies of any kind, and in the present case the answer is given by the following theorem of Kolmogorov [1].

**Theorem.** Suppose that the  $\delta s$ -operation  $\Phi$  with countable index set is such that the class  $\nabla(\Phi)$  is closed relative to countable union  $\bigcup$ . Then for all  $\alpha$ ,  $1 \leq \alpha < \omega_1$ , we have

$$\bigcup_{\gamma < \alpha} \Sigma^{\Phi}_{\gamma} [\varsigma] \Sigma^{\Phi}_{\alpha} \quad and \quad \bigcup_{\gamma < \alpha} \Pi^{\Phi}_{\gamma} \varsigma \Pi^{\Phi}_{\alpha}.$$

*Proof.* By induction on  $\alpha$ , Kolmogorov constructs a sequence of  $\delta s$ -operations  $\Phi_{\alpha}$ ,  $\alpha < \omega_1$ , with countable index sets, having the properties: 1)  $\Sigma_{\alpha}^{\Phi} \subseteq \Phi_{\alpha}(\mathbf{F} \cup \mathbf{G})$  and 2) the class  $\nabla(\Phi)$  is closed relative to  $\Phi_{\alpha}$ . The start of the construction is obvious: we take, for example,  $\Phi_0 = \Phi$ . Now for the induction step.

Suppose that  $\alpha \ge 1$  and that all the operations  $\Phi_{\gamma}$ ,  $\gamma < \alpha$ , have already been constructed and satisfy the conditions. Define the auxiliary operation

$$\Theta = \bigcup_{\alpha} |\{ \widetilde{\Phi}_{\gamma}: \gamma < \alpha \}, \text{ where } \alpha = \{ \gamma: \gamma < \alpha \}$$

and the operation  $\Phi_{\alpha} = \Phi \Theta$ . From the induction hypothesis it follows that  $\Pi_{\gamma}^{\Phi} = \Phi_{\gamma}(\mathbf{F} \cup \mathbf{G})$  for  $\gamma < \alpha$ , and so the class  $\Theta(\mathbf{F} \cup \mathbf{G})$  consists of all countable unions of sets belonging to the classes  $\Pi_{\gamma}^{\Phi}$ ,  $\gamma < \alpha$ , one set from each of these classes. By taking the empty set in all except one of these classes, and any selected set in the other, we obtain this selected set as the union. Consequently all sets of the classes  $\Pi_{\gamma}^{\Phi}$ ,  $\gamma < \alpha$ , are included in the class  $\Theta(\mathbf{F} \cup \mathbf{G})$ , and it is now clear that  $\Pi_{\alpha}^{\Phi} \subseteq \Phi_{\alpha}(\mathbf{F} \cup \mathbf{G})$ . And from the fact that the class  $\nabla(\Phi)$  is closed relative to  $\Phi$ , to  $\bigcup_{\alpha}$  and to all the  $\Phi_{\gamma}, \gamma < \alpha$ ,

it follows that it is also closed relative to the new operation  $\Phi_{\alpha}$ .

Now, having the desired system of operations  $\Phi_{\alpha}$ , we suppose the contrary of the non-vacuousness theorem; that is, let, for example

$$\Sigma^{\Phi}_{lpha} = \bigcup_{\gamma < lpha} \Sigma^{\Phi}_{\gamma}$$

From this it is easy to deduce that

$$\Sigma_{\alpha}^{\Phi} = \Pi_{\alpha}^{\Phi} = \Sigma_{\beta}^{\Phi} = \Pi_{\beta}^{\Phi} \text{ for all } \beta, \ \alpha \leqslant \beta < \omega_{i},$$

that is,  $\Sigma_{\alpha}^{\Phi} = \Pi_{\alpha}^{\Phi} = \nabla(\Phi)$ . But by the construction of  $\Phi_{\alpha}$  and the fact that  $\mathbf{F} \cup \mathbf{G} \subseteq \mathbf{F}_{\sigma}$  and  $\bigcup_{\alpha} (\nabla(\Phi)) \subseteq \nabla(\Phi)$  we obtain

(7) 
$$\nabla(\Phi) = \Sigma_{\alpha}^{\Phi} = \Pi_{\alpha}^{\Phi} = \Psi(\mathbf{F}), \text{ where } \Psi = \Phi_{\alpha} \bigcup_{\alpha}$$
.

This relation is the starting point for the derivation of a contradiction, and the concrete mechanism consists in the use of a further theorem, also proved by Kolmogorov in [1].

**Theorem on complements.** For any  $\delta s$ -operation  $\Psi$  with countable index set, in the class  $\Psi(\mathbf{F})$  there is a set whose complement does not belong to this class.

**Proof.** We shall suppose that 1) the index set of  $\Psi$  is the set  $\omega$  of natural numbers, and 2) the underlying space is the Cantor discontinuum  $\mathscr{C}$  (this assumption leads to no loss of generality, since every perfect Polish space contains a closed set homeomorphic to  $\mathscr{C}$ ).

The space  $\mathscr{C}$ , realized as the product of  $\omega$  copies of a discrete 2-point space, consists of all infinite sequences  $c = \langle c_0, c_1, c_2, ... \rangle$  of numbers  $c_n = c(n) = 0$  or 1. Fixing a countable basis for the topology of consisting of sets  $C_k$ ,  $k \in \omega$ , we define the set

$$Y = \{ \langle c, x \rangle \in \mathscr{C}^2 \colon x \notin \bigcup_{c(k)=1} C_k \}$$

which is closed in  $\mathscr{C}^2$  and universal in the sense that for every closed  $X \subseteq \mathscr{C}$  there is a point  $c \in \mathscr{C}$  for which

$$X = Y^{(c)}$$
, where  $Y^{(c)} = \{x: (c, x) \in Y\}$ .

Further, put  $Y_m = \{\langle c, x \rangle : \langle (c)_m, x \rangle \in Y\}$  for all *m*, where the points  $(c)_m \in \mathcal{C}$  are given by the formulae  $(c)_m(k) = c(2^m 3^k)$ . Now, for each countable family of closed sets  $X_m \subseteq \mathcal{C}$  there is a point  $c \in \mathcal{C}$  such that  $X_m = Y_m^{(c)}$  for every *m*. Consequently the set  $H = \Psi\{Y_m : m \in \omega\}$  of the class  $\Psi(\mathbf{F})$  is universal for this class, since

$$H^{(c)} = \Psi \{ Y_m^{(c)} \colon m \in \omega \}.$$

For the required example we can take the set

$$Z = H^* = \{c: \langle c, c \rangle \in H\} = \Psi \{Y_m^*: m \in \omega\}$$

which is in the class  $\Psi(\mathbf{F})$ , since each  $Y_m^* = \{c: \langle c, c \rangle \in Y_m\}$  is closed. If the complement Z of Z also belonged to the class  $\Psi(\mathbf{F})$ , then for a suitable point  $c \in \mathcal{C}$  we should have

$$\widetilde{Z} = H^{(c)} = \{x: \langle c, x \rangle \in H\}$$

by the universality of H. This gives a contradiction to the definition of  $Z: c \in Z \leftrightarrow \langle c, c \rangle \in H \leftrightarrow c \in \mathbb{Z}$ .

This completes the proof of the theorem on complements.

The proof of the non-vacuousness theorem is also now complete: we consider the relation (7) and recall that  $\Pi^{\Phi}_{\alpha}$  consists of the complements of the sets in  $\Sigma^{\Phi}_{\alpha}$ .

This theorem is, of course, applicable to the Borel hierarchy ( $\Phi = \bigcup_{\omega}$ ) and the hierarchy of C-sets ( $\Phi$  is the A-operation), and in these particular cases it had already been established by ad hoc methods (Lebesgue [16] for the first and Selivanovskii [31] for the second). Thus it was Kolmogorov who brought to light the general principle underlying such types of reasoning. The theorem on complements for the A-operation had been proved by Suslin in the form: there exists an A-set whose complement is not an A-set [32].

We mention that for the operations  $\Phi = \bigcup_{\omega}$  and  $\Phi = A$ , the operations  $\Phi_{\alpha}$ , constructed in the course of the proof of the non-vacuousness theorem, satisfy the equation  $\Sigma_{\alpha}^{\Phi} = \Phi_{\alpha}(\mathbf{F} \cup \mathbf{G})$  (in general, a sufficient condition for this is for example that  $\bigcup_{\omega} \leq \Phi$  and  $\Phi \Phi \approx \Phi$ ). The construction of such a system of operations for the Borel classes was given by Hausdorff [34], [35], and for the classes of the *C*-hierarchy by Kantorovich and Livenson [10], [12]. Assuming the above sufficient condition the non-vacuousness can be proved in the stronger form

$$\Sigma^{\Phi}_{\alpha} \not\subseteq \Pi^{\Phi}_{\alpha}$$
 and  $\Pi^{\Phi}_{\alpha} \not\subseteq \Sigma^{\Phi}_{\alpha}$  for  $\alpha < \omega_i$ ,

in which it is usually stated for the Borel hierarchy (see [41], §2).

The name of non-vacuousness thoerem may cause some surprise, since in the form in which it is stated the classes are not non-empty, but strictly increasing. The fact of the matter is that the name is inherited from classical descriptive set theory, where the hierarchy normally consisted of pairwise disjoint classes—for example, in the present case, the classes

$$\Sigma^{\Phi}_{\alpha} - \bigcup_{\gamma < \alpha} \Sigma^{\Phi}_{\gamma}, \quad \Pi^{\Phi}_{\alpha} - \bigcup_{\gamma < \alpha} \Pi^{\Phi}_{\gamma}$$

whose non-vacuousness is indeed proved in [1] (of course in a different notation).

#### Historical commentary.

We have already mentioned that the concept of a  $\delta s$ -operation was discovered by Hausdorff independently of Kolmogorov, and was published in the second edition of his Mengenlehre [34] (the relevant chapter of the Russian translation [35] was prepared by Kolmogorov). Naturally a monograph by one of the leading mathematicians of the day had a wider readership than the short paper [1] in the Russian language. For this reason, in certain publications (of some authority, for example in [14], p.345) concerning this topic the  $\delta s$ -operations are called the Hausdorff operations. However, Kolmogorov's contribution to the theory of operations on sets was greater than Hausdorff's. In fact, the German mathematician did not arrive at the notion of the complementary operation, and his book contains neither the theorem on complementation nor the non-vacuousness theorem in their general forms, which constitute the basis of the theory. Neither does Hausdorff have the *R*-transform, with which our next section is concerned.

## §3. The *R*-transform

Today, when more than half a century has passed since the appearance of "Memoir on the analytical operations and projective sets (II)", in which Kantorovich and Livenson first published material on the *R*-transform, it can be firmly asserted that this concept was Kolmogorov's most important discovery in the field of operations on sets, and one of the most important achievements in classical descriptive set theory overall. To a significant extent it was in advance of the level of set-theoretical thinking of the day, although it then became the basis and starting-point for very fruitful research by Kantorovich and Livenson, and a little later Lyapunov and others. However its full significance has become clear only more recently, after the development of such branches of the foundations of mathematics as infinite games, the general theory of inductive definitions, and recursions of higher type, which were unheard-of in the 20's and 30's.

Following the unexpected recovery of the second part of Kolmogorov's manuscript "Operations on sets" and its publication in [2] we are able to turn directly to the very origins of all research into the R-transform.

#### The classical definition.

A  $\delta s$ -operation  $\Phi = \Phi_Q$  is fixed, with index set *I* and basis *Q*. Its square  $\Phi^2 = \Phi \Phi$  (that is, the superposition of  $\Phi$  with itself) acts on an *I*<sup>2</sup>-indexed family (where  $I^2 = I \times I$  is the Cartesian square) according to the formula

$$\Phi^{2}\{X_{ij}: \langle i, j \rangle \in I^{2}\} = \Phi\{\Phi\{X_{ij}: j \in I\}: i \in I\},\$$

and as a basis for  $\Phi^2$  we may take the set of all chains  $W \subseteq I^2$  of the form

$$W = \{ \langle i, j \rangle : i \in U \land j \in U_i \},\$$

where U and all the  $U_i$  belong to Q. Similarly, the  $\delta s$ -operation  $\Phi^3$  has index set  $I^3$  and basis consisting of all chains of the form

$$W = \{ \langle i, j, k \rangle : i \in U \land j \in U_i \land k \in U_{ij} \},\$$

where  $U_i$ ,  $U_i$ ,  $U_{ii}$  belong to Q, acting as follows:

$$\Phi^{3} \{X_{ijh}\} = \Phi\{\Phi\{\Phi\{X_{ijh}: k \in I\}: j \in I\}: i \in I\}.$$

The construction can be continued, to give  $\Phi^4$ ,  $\Phi^5$ , and so on.

But what operation ought to be taken as the limit, so to speak, of the sequence of operations  $\Phi^n$ ? One solution is immediately clear: the union of all the operations  $\Phi^n$ ,  $n \in \omega$ , via superposition with some simple outer operation—for example, with  $\bigcup$ , so that one puts  $\Phi^{\omega} = \bigcup_{\omega} | \{\Phi^n : n \in \omega\}$ 

(construction as in the proof of non-vacuousness in the preceding section).

However Kolmogorov found a different idea, with essentially richer potential. He constructs the  $\delta s$ -operation  $R\Phi$ , with index set

$$RI = \{ \langle i_0, \ldots, i_m \rangle = i \mid m: m \in \omega \text{ and } i_0, \ldots, i_m \in I \}$$

of all finite (of non-zero length) strings of elements of I and with basis RQ comprising all chains  $W \subseteq RI$  of the form

(8) 
$$W = \{\langle i_0, \ldots, i_m \rangle \in RI: i_0 \in U \land i_1 \in U_{i_0} \land \land i_2 \in U_{i_0i_1} \text{ and so on up to } i_m \in U_{i \nmid (m-1)} \},$$

where all the chains  $U_{i\dagger m}$ ,  $i\dagger m \in RI$ , belong to Q.

The key difference between the *R*-transform and superposition consists in the fact that  $R\Phi$  cannot be expressed directly in terms of  $\Phi$ , and it is necessary to effect a transformation of the basis. Here a question of principle arises: does not the operation  $R\Phi$  depend also on the choice of a specific basis Q for  $\Phi$ ? However all is well, because the necessary and sufficient condition (1) of §1 for the validity of  $\Phi_{Q_1} = \Phi_{Q_2}$  is preserved in the passage to the bases  $RQ_1$  and  $RQ_2$ . Thus  $R\Phi$  does not depend on the choice of basis Q for  $\Phi$ , and the use of the notation  $R\Phi$  is justified.

*Example.* The A-operation is the R-transform of countable union:  $A = R \bigcup_{\omega}$ . In its turn, countable intersection  $\bigcap_{\omega}$  is identical with the *R*-transform of the unary operation  $\bigcap_{\{0\}} = \bigcup_{\{0\}}$  with the one-element index set  $\{0\}$  (more precisely,  $R \bigcup_{\{0\}}$  becomes  $\bigcap_{\omega}$  under a one-to-one correspondence between the index sets). Moreover, one can show that  $RA \approx A$  and  $R \bigcap_{\omega} \approx \bigcap_{\omega}$ , that is in these two examples a double *R*-transform is equivalent to a single one. Indeed, in general  $R\Phi \approx RR\Phi$  for every  $\delta s$ -operation  $\Phi$  (see the theorem at the end of this section).

## Generalized quantifiers.

This concept is needed in order to pass to the modern "game-theoretical" definition of the *R*-transform. In general, a characteristic feature of modern set-theoretical research has been the replacement of "operational" terms by a more convenient logical symbology in which sets are represented by relations and complementation by the sign of negation, union and intersection by the quantifiers  $\exists$  and  $\forall$ , and so on. In this system, to  $\delta s$ -operations corresponds the concept of a generalized quantifier.

A (generalized) quantifier over the set I is any  $Q \subseteq \mathscr{P}(I)$  (any basis in the sense of §1), where to avoid triviality it is usually assumed that  $\emptyset \notin Q$  and  $Q \neq \mathscr{P}(I)$ . The logical function of Q is given thus:

$$Qi\varphi(i) \leftrightarrow Qi \in I\varphi(i) \leftrightarrow \{i: \varphi(i)\} \in Q.$$

The standard quantifiers can be brought within the scope of this definition:  $\exists = \{Q \subseteq I: Q \neq \emptyset\}$  and  $\forall = \{I\}$ .

A quantifier Q is called *monotonic* if for  $U \subseteq V$ , from  $U \in Q$  it follows. that  $V \in Q$ ; therefore monotonicity of a quantifier corresponds to completeness of a basis. Only such quantifiers are normally considered.

The dual quantifier  $\widecheck{Q} = \{V \subseteq I : I - V \notin Q\}$  has logical function connected with that of Q by the equivalence

$$\widetilde{Q}i\varphi(i) \leftrightarrow \neg Qi \neg \varphi(i).$$

For a monotonic Q the dual quantifier  $\widecheck{Q}$  is simultaneously also a basis for the complementary operation: see (4\*) of §1. The quantifiers  $\exists$  and  $\forall$  are mutually dual.

The definition of a generalized quantifier agrees perfectly with the concept of an analytic operation:

$$x \in \Psi_Q\{X_i: i \in I\} \leftrightarrow Qi \in I \quad (x \in X_i),$$

and, if Q is monotonic, with that of a  $\delta s$ -operation:

$$(9) x \in \Phi_Q\{X_i\} \leftrightarrow Qi(x \in X_i) \leftrightarrow \exists U \in Q \forall i \in U(x \in X_i).$$

The notion of *R*-transform.

We turn to the analysis of the operations  $\Phi^n$ . Assuming that the basis Q of  $\Phi = \Phi_Q$  is complete (this can always be achieved, for any  $\delta s$ -operation, by

taking the completion of an arbitrary basis using formula (3) of 1—that is, Q is a monotonic quantifier, and taking (9) into account, we have

$$\begin{aligned} x \in \Phi\{X_i: i \in I\} &\leftrightarrow Qi(x \in X_i) \leftrightarrow \exists U \in Q \ \forall i \in U(x \in X_i); \\ x \in \Phi^2\{X_{ij}\} \ QiQj(x \in X_{ij}) \leftrightarrow \exists U \in Q \ \forall i \in U \ \exists V \in Q \ \forall j \in V \ (x \in X_{ij}); \\ x \in \Phi^3\{X_{ijk}\} \leftrightarrow QiQjQk \ (x \in X_{ijk}); \end{aligned}$$

and so on. From this representation Kolmogorov's idea seems to be both obvious and impossible: to pass to an infinite chain of quantifiers Q and define a  $\delta s$ -operation RQ with index set RI by means of the relations

(10) 
$$x \in R \oplus \{X_r: r \in RI\} \Leftrightarrow Qi_0 Qi_1 Qi_2 \ldots \forall m(x \in X_{ifm}) \Leftrightarrow$$
  
 $\leftrightarrow \exists U_0 \in Q \ \forall i_0 \in U_0 \ \exists U_1 \in Q \ \forall i_1 \in U_1 \ldots \forall m(x \in X_{ifm}),$ 

where  $i \upharpoonright m = \langle i_0, \ldots, i_m \rangle$ .

Thus everything is clear and simple, except for one thing: how is one to interpret the infinite sequence of quantifiers in (10)? And this difficulty threatens to take the given definition into the realm of the impossible.

## The Kolmogorov game.

The correct interpretation of (10) can be derived on the basis of the following game  $\forall_{Qx} \{X_r\}$  which is played by two players, whom we shall call Q and I. These players in turn each make a "move", namely:

player Q (who begins) selects  $U_0 \in Q$ ;

player I, knowing the "move"  $U_0$ , selects  $i_0 \in U_0$ ;

player Q, knowing  $i_0$  (the game has perfect information) selects  $U_1 \in Q$ ; player I, knowing  $U_1$ , selects  $i_1 \in U_1$ ;

and so on. The requirements that  $U_m \in Q$  and  $i_m \in U_m$  constitute the rules of the game, and the first player unable to comply with them on his turn immediately loses. In particular, Q loses if  $Q = \Phi$ , and wins with the first move  $U_0 = \Phi$  if  $\Phi \in Q$ . If  $Q \neq \Phi$  and  $\Phi \notin Q$ , as will henceforth be assumed, then at each stage the players do have the possibility of making a legal move and thus producing an infinite play

(11) 
$$U_0, i_0, U_1, i_1, U_2, i_2, \ldots (i_m \in U_m \in Q \text{ for all } m).$$

In this main case the outcome of the play is defined as follows: if  $x \in X_{i \dagger m}$  for all *m*, then the winner is taken to be *Q*, and in the contrary case (that is, if  $x \notin X_{i \dagger m}$  for at least one *m*) the winner is *I*.

Now we can interpret the second line in (10) as possession by the player Q of a system of moves in the game  $\forall_{Qx} \{X_r\}$  which ensures for him a win regardless of the way the opponent plays. This interpretation can be formulated more precisely in terms of the concept of a winning strategy.

In general, a strategy for the player Q in a game of the type  $\forall_{Qx} \{X_r\}$  is any rule for choosing the moves, depending on the preceding moves of the opponent—that is, any function  $\sigma$ :  $RI \cup \{\Lambda\} \rightarrow Q$ , where  $\Lambda$  is the empty string (which needs to be considered here in order to determine the opening move  $U_0$ ). A play (11) corresponds to the strategy  $\sigma$  if  $U_m = \sigma(i_{\uparrow}m)$  for all m, that is, when

$$U_0 = \sigma(\Lambda), \quad U_1 = \sigma(i_0), \quad U_2 = \sigma(i_0, i_1), \quad U_3 = \sigma(i_0, i_1, i_2),$$

and so on. Finally,  $\sigma$  is called a *winning strategy* (WS for short) for the player Q in the game  $\forall_{Qx} \{X_r\}$  if each player of this game corresponding to the strategy  $\sigma$  ends with a win for Q. Thus a rigorous form of definition (10) is

(12)  $x \in R\Phi\{X_r\} \leftrightarrow Q$  has a WS in the game  $\forall_{Qx}\{X_r\}$ .

Let us see that this definition is equivalent to the classical one considered at the beginning of the section. Let  $x \in R\Phi\{X_r\}$  in the sense of the classical definition, that is, there exists a chain W of the form (8) giving  $x \in X_r$  for all  $r \in W$ . Then the strategy defined by  $\sigma(\Lambda) = U$  and  $\sigma(i \nmid m) = U_{i \uparrow m}$  for all strings  $i \nmid m = \langle i_0, \ldots, i_m \rangle \in RI$  will be winning for Q, that is,  $x \in R\Phi\{X_r\}$  in the sense of the definitions (10)-(12). The converse implication is equally simple. (As can be seen from this argument, the chains of the canonical basis RQ for  $R\Phi$  are in one-to-one correspondence with the winning strategies for Q in the game  $\forall_{Qx}\{X_r\}$ .)

## Determinacy.

Player I may also posses a winning strategy: in the game  $\forall_{Qx} \{X_r\}$  this will be any function  $\tau$  given on the set of all strings  $\langle U_0, ..., U_m \rangle$  of chains  $U_n \in Q$  such that

1)  $\tau(U_0, ..., U_m) \in U_m$  for all m and

2) for any play (11), if  $i_m = \tau(U_0, ..., U_m)$  for all *m* (corresponding to the strategy  $\tau$ ) then there exists an *m* such that  $x \notin X_{i \nmid m}$ .

Of course it is impossible for both players to have a winning strategy for one and the same game, because otherwise a play in which both play according to these strategies would give a contradiction.

Therefore there remain two possibilities: either one of the players has a WS (and the other does not)—and then the game is called *determined*; or neither of them has a WS. In the next section we shall prove that all Kolmogorov games are determined.

## The complementary transform.

By analogy with the definition of a complementary operation, the transform  $\tilde{R}$  complementary to R should be so defined that the operation  $\tilde{R}\Phi$  is complementary to  $R\Phi$ , that is,

(13) 
$$\widetilde{R}\widetilde{\Phi}\{X_r: r \in RI\} = \widetilde{X} \leftrightarrow R\Phi\{X_r\} = X.$$

The explicit "game-theoretical" definition of  $\breve{R}$  is given by

(10\*)  $x \in \widetilde{R}\Phi\{X_r\} \leftrightarrow Qi_0Qi_1Qi_2 \ldots \exists m(x \in X_{i\uparrow m}),$ 

and a precise interpretation of this definition is obtained on the basis of the game  $\exists_{Qx} \{X_r\}$ , which is like the game  $\forall_{Qx} \{X_r\}$  in all respects except for the definition of the winner: Q wins if  $x \in X_{i \dagger m}$  for at least one m. The derivation of (13) from this definition may be carried out by the following argument:

$$\begin{aligned} x \in R\Phi\{X_r\} \leftrightarrow \\ \leftrightarrow \exists U_0 \in Q \ \forall i_0 \in U_0 \ \exists U_1 \in Q \ \forall i_1 \in U_1 \ \dots \ \forall m(x \in X_{i \dagger m}) \leftrightarrow \\ \leftrightarrow \Box \forall U_0 \in Q \ \exists i_0 \in U_0 \ \forall U_1 \in Q \ \exists i_1 \in U_1 \ \dots \ \exists m(x \notin X_{i \dagger m}) \leftrightarrow \\ \leftrightarrow \Box \exists V_0 \in \widetilde{Q} \ \forall i_0 \in V_0 \ \exists V_1 \in \widetilde{Q} \ \forall i_1 \in V_1 \ \dots \ \exists m(x \notin X_{i \dagger m}) \leftrightarrow \\ \leftrightarrow \Box \widetilde{Q} i_0 \widetilde{Q} i_1 \widetilde{Q} i_2 \ \dots \ \exists m(x \in \widetilde{X}_{i \dagger m}) \leftrightarrow x \in \widetilde{R} \widetilde{\Phi}\{\widetilde{X}_r\}. \end{aligned}$$

The passage from the second line to the third is a formulation of the assertion of determinacy of the game  $\forall_{Qx} \{X_r\}$ . The passage from the third line to the fourth is valid because the choice in each chain  $U \in Q$  of an element with the specified property is equivalent to the choice of one chain

V in the complementary basis  $\widecheck{Q}$  which is completely composed of such elements.

#### Generalizations.

If a sequence of  $\delta s$ -operations  $\Phi_m$ ,  $m \in \omega$ , is given, then their *R*-convolution  $R\langle \Phi_m : m \in \omega \rangle$  can be defined by writing in the right hand side of definition (10) an infinite sequence of distinct quantifiers:  $Q_0 i_0 Q_1 i_1 Q_2 i_2 \dots$  (where  $Q_m$  is a complete basis for  $\Phi_m$ ); the interpretation by means of the corresponding game does not give any difficulty even in the case when the operations  $\Phi_m$  have different index sets. In [20], Lyapunov defined the *R*-transform in a still more complicated case: when the next operation depends on the string of indices fixed at the preceding steps, that is, in the game-theoretical form, with a quantifier prefix of the form

$$Qi_0Q_{i_0}i_1Q_{i_0}i_1i_2 \ldots Q_{i_1}mi_{m+1} \ldots$$

There are also similar generalized variants of the complementary transform

 $\breve{R}$ , while below in §6 we shall consider a further (and perhaps more interesting) method of generalization.

## Transformation of quantifiers.

The construction of the operation  $R\Phi$  using formula (10) can be carried over to the definition of the logical function of a monotonic quantifier [RQ] over a set RI:

$$[RQ]r\varphi(r) \leftrightarrow Qi_0Qi_1Qi_2 \ldots \forall m\varphi(i|m).$$

Thus [RQ] is the complete basis of the operation  $R\Phi$  obtained from the canonical basis RQ by formula (3) of §1, that is,

 $[RQ] = \{S \subseteq RI: \exists W \in RQ(W \subseteq S)\}.$ 

The quantifier [RQ] can also be defined in exactly the same way.

In the unpublished paper [55] (there is a summary in [61]), Harrington studies the complexity of the transformation  $Q \rightarrow Q^* = [\tilde{R}(Q\tilde{Q})]$  from the point of view of recursion in the higher types. It follows from his results that the transformation  $Q \rightarrow Q^+$  occupies a quite specific position among the objects of type 3.

## The R-transform and the power of operations.

We recall that the relations  $\leq$  and  $\approx$ , by means of which the power of  $\delta s$ -operations can be compared, have been defined in §1.

**Theorem.** (a)  $\Phi \leq R\Phi$ ,  $\Phi^2 \leq R\Phi$ , and in general  $\Phi^n \leq R\Phi$ ; (b) if  $\Phi \leq \Psi$ , then  $R\Phi \leq R\Psi$ ; (c)  $(R\Phi)(R\Phi) \approx R\Phi$ —normality of  $R\Phi$  in the sense of [1]; (d)  $RR\Phi \approx R\Phi$ .

Assertions (a) and (c) were proved by Kolmogorov in [2], and (b) and (d) by Kanotrovich and Livenson in [11]. Here we shall give a proof of (c) which is in essence very close to Kolmogorov's argument, but in a form using infinite sequences of quantifiers that makes the idea of the classical proof completely transparent.

We need to prove that the doubly infinite sequence of quantifiers in the expression

(14) 
$$Qi_0Qi_1Qi_2 \ldots \forall mQj_0Qj_1Qj_2 \ldots \forall l(x \in X_{i \nmid m, j \nmid l})$$

can be replaced by a singly infinite sequence after a re-indexing of the sets  $X_{i\uparrow m, j\uparrow l}$ .

Let us denote by  $\varphi(m, x)$  the expression after  $\forall n_i$  in (14). The formula  $Qi_0Qi_1Qi_2 \ldots \forall mq(m, x)$  obtained by this abbreviation can be written as follows:

$$Qi_0[\varphi(0, x) \wedge Qi_1[\varphi(1, x) \wedge Qi_2[\varphi(2, x) \wedge \ldots]]].$$

Then (14) takes the form

(15) 
$$Qi_0 [Qj_{00}Qj_{01} \dots \forall l (x \in X_{i+0,j0+l}) \land \land Qi_1 | Qj_{10}Qj_{11} \dots \forall l (x \in X_{i+1,j_1+l}) \land \land Qi_2 [Qj_{20}Qj_{21} \dots \forall l (x \in X_{i+2,j_1+l}) \dots]]],$$

where  $j_m | l = \langle j_{m0}, \ldots, j_{ml} \rangle$ . In this expression the block of quantifiers  $Qj_0Qj_1Qj_2$  ... has been repeated, as it were, countably many times, and the copy occurring in the row beginning with  $Qi_m$  has been the additional index m,

taking  $j_l$  to  $j_{ml}$ . This has been done so that all the quantifiers  $Qi_m$  and  $Qi_{ml}$  can be arranged in a sequence  $Qk_0Qk_1Qk_2$  ..., preserving 1) the natural order among the quantifiers  $Qi_m$  and 2) the natural order within each of the sequences  $Qi_mQj_{m0}Qj_{m1}$ ... After this rearrangement, (15) takes the new form

where the string of dots in parentheses stands for the conjunction of all possible expressions  $x \in X_{i \nmid m, j_m \nmid l}$  in which  $m, l \in \omega$ , and each  $k_n$  is either  $i_m$  or  $j_{m \mid l}$ . We now define

$$Y_{k+n} = X_{i+m,j_m+1}$$
 for  $k_n = j_{ml}$ ,

and

$$Y_{k+n} = X_{i+m,j_m+0} \quad \text{for} \quad k_n = i_m.$$

It is easy to see that

(16) 
$$\leftrightarrow Qk_0Qk_1 \ldots \forall n(x \in Y_{k \uparrow n})$$

as required.

This proof can be expressed completely rigorously in terms of strategies.

## Historical remarks.

1. The classical theory of the *R*-transform, based on Kolmogorov's definition and his method of indices (see the preceding section), was worked out mainly through the efforts of Lyapunov [20]-[26]; in particular, the idea of the complementary transform  $\tilde{R}$  is contained in [24]. Lyapunov's most important results in this field concern *R*-sets, and will be discussed in §§5 and 6 below.

2. Recent research on the *R*-transform was initiated in Hinman's papers [57], [58], where the construction is described from the point of view of recursion theory. Then at the end of the 60's the intensive development of a general theory of inductive definitions began, including a line of research concerned with the investigation of generalized quantifiers (see [37], [40], [43], [56], [61], [66]). In [44], Aczel gave the definition of the quantifier  $Q^* = [\tilde{R}(Q\bar{Q})]$ , in our notation, with the logical function

$$Q^{+}r\varphi(r) \leftrightarrow Qi_{0}\widetilde{Q}i_{1}Qi_{2}\widetilde{Q}i_{3} \ldots \exists m\varphi(i|m)$$

and indicated how to treat it using the associated game. From this was extracted the 'game-theoretical' definition of the *R*-transform, which was also published independently by Hinman [59]. The most complete exposition of the technical theory of the *R*-transform in its modern form is to be found in [45].

3. The general concept of infinite games, which includes the Kolmogorov games, was introduced by Gale and Stewart [54] in 1954. In the 70's, methods associated with these games took over a central role in descriptive set theory, and new results obtained with their help were added to the elegant theory of projective sets, in which all the odd levels of the projective hierarchy are very close in their properties to the first projective level (already rather thoroughly investigated by classical methods in the 20's and 30's), and all the even levels to the second level. The axioms AD and PD, asserting the determinacy of games of specific types, are quite seriously considered as genuine candidates for addition to the traditional Zermelo-Fraenkel axiomatic systems ZF and ZFC. (All this is discussed in more detail in [9], [36], [37], [41], and [66].) Thus the question of priority in the invention of infinite games is of some importance.

4. Usually this question is settled with a reference to the work of the Polish mathematicians Banach and Mazur at the beginning of the 30's, written down in what is known as the 'Scottish Book' and published only considerably later [64] (see also [42], [53], and [66]). Banach and Mazur considered certain rather elementary games, without formulating the general concept.

Now, however, after a 'game-theoretical' definition of the R-transform is known, it is possible, and indeed obligatory, to put the discovery of infinite games ten years earlier and to associate it with the research of Kolmogorov, who to all intents and purposes proposed the historically first example of an infinite game.

## §4. Inductive analysis. Indices

Two principal investigative techniques are known in connection with the R-transform: the 'direct method' involving the consideration of bases, games, strategies, and the passage from one game to another under various transformations of sequences of quantifiers and so on, and the method of indices or, in modern terminology, inductive analysis.

As applied to the A-operation (which, we recall, is the R-transform of countable union), the apparatus of indices was introduced in the very first papers on A-sets by Suslin [32] and Luzin and Sierpiński [18]. However in [2] Kolmogorov gave an elaboration of the method for a perfectly general situation, where subtleties not arising in the special case acquire an essential significance.

Let us fix a  $\delta s$ -operation  $\Phi = \Phi_Q$ , given by a complete basis Q, that is, a monotonic quantifier over some set I. Let us fix also a family  $\{X_r: r \in RI\}$ of sets  $X_r$  situated in some specified underlying space. The aim of inductive analysis is to investigate the sets  $X = R\Phi\{X_r\}$  and  $X = R\Phi\{X_r\}$  (which, as will be shown, is the complement of X in the underlying space; as usual, the sets  $X_r$  are taken to be the complements of the  $X_r$ ) by replacing the operations  $R\Phi$  and  $\breve{R}\Phi$  by the special mechanism of multiple application of the simpler initial operations  $\Phi$  and  $\breve{\Phi}$ .

## The inductive construction.

We first introduce the set  $\Xi = RI \cup \{\Lambda\}$ , completing the collection of all strings RI by adding the empty string  $\Lambda$ , and for this additional string we

denote by  $X_{\Lambda}$  the underlying space; thus  $\breve{X}_{\Lambda} = \emptyset$ . Following Kolmogorov [2], by induction on the ordinal  $\alpha$  we define the sets  $X_{s\alpha}$  ( $s \in \Xi$ ) and their complements  $\breve{X}_{s\alpha}$ :

$$X_{\Lambda 0} = X_{\Lambda 9} \quad \widetilde{X}_{\Lambda 0} = \emptyset, \quad X_{i + m, 0} = \bigcap_{n \leq m} X_{i + n}, \quad \widetilde{X}_{i + m, 0} = \bigcup_{n \leq m} \widetilde{X}_{i + n}$$

$$(17) \qquad X_{s\alpha} = (\bigcap_{7 < \alpha} X_{s\gamma}) \cap \Phi \{\bigcap_{\gamma < \alpha} X_{si,\gamma} : i \in I\},$$

$$\widetilde{X}_{s\alpha} = (\bigcup_{\gamma < \alpha} \widetilde{X}_{s\gamma}) \cup \widetilde{\Phi} \{\bigcup_{\gamma < \alpha} X_{si,\gamma} : i \in I\}$$

for  $\alpha > 0$ ; here *si* denotes the string *s* extended by the element *i*: for example  $\langle 1, 2 \rangle 3 = \langle 1, 2, 3 \rangle$ .

For a fixed s the sets  $X_{s\alpha}$  are increasing and consequently the  $X_{s\alpha}$  decreasing, with increasing  $\alpha$ , and therefore the whole process of inductive construction via (17) must stabilize at some stage. The limiting forms of the sets  $X_{s\alpha}$  and  $X_{s\alpha}$  obtained at this stage are denoted by  $X_{s\infty}$  and  $X_{s\infty}$ . (It is easy to see that when I is at most countable we have  $X_{s\infty} = X_{s\omega_1}$  and  $X_{s\infty} = X_{s\omega_1}$ .)

## Interpretation: winning positions.

The game-theoretical approach to the *R*-transform makes it possible to give an elegant interpretation of the above construction in terms of winning positions. We recall that membership of some point x in the set  $X = R\Phi\{X_r\}$ is defined by player Q's possession of a winning strategy in the game  $\forall_{Qx}\{X_r\}$ ; and one way of searching for this, by analogy with real-life games such as chess, is to look for winning positions, that is, those choices of some number of initial steps following which a guaranteed win for one of the players becomes obvious.

After player I has made move  $i_m$  in the game  $\forall_{Qx} \{X_r\}$ , the subsequent course of the game and its outcome cannot depend on the moves  $U_0, \ldots, U_m$  of player Q, that is, what must be considered as a *position* in this game is any string  $\langle i_0, \ldots, i_m \rangle = i | m \in RI$ , and also the empty string  $\Lambda$ , the initial position.

Lemma 1. Every position s in the set  $S_{x\infty} = \{s: x \in X_{s\infty}\}$  is a winning one for player Q in the game  $\forall_{Qx}\{X_r\}$ .

*Proof.* The auxiliary sets  $S_{x\alpha} = \{s: x \in X_{s\alpha}\}$  satisfy certain relations that follow from definition (17). It is convenient to write these in the form of equivalences:

$$s \in S_{x\alpha} \leftrightarrow s \in \bigcap_{\gamma < \alpha} S_{x\gamma} \land Qi \ (si \in \bigcap_{\gamma < \alpha} S_{x\gamma}),$$

and in addition  $S_{x0} = \{\Lambda\} \cup \{i \mid m: \forall n \leq m \ (x \in X_{i\uparrow n})\}$ . Therefore for the limit set  $S_{x\infty} = \bigcap_{\alpha} S_{x\alpha}$  we have

$$s \in S_{x\infty} \leftrightarrow Qi(si \in S_{x\infty}) \leftrightarrow \exists U \in Q \ \forall i \in U \ (si \in S_{x\infty}).$$

This means that in any position  $s \in S_{x^{\infty}}$  the player Q has a move  $U \in Q$  such that for every answering move  $i \in U$  by the opponent the extended string *si* again belongs to  $S_{x^{\infty}}$ . Thus in the game with position  $s \in S_{x^{\infty}}$ , player Q has a strategy guaranteeing that no subsequent positions depart from the set  $S_{x^{\infty}}$ , thus guaranteeing a win for Q, since  $S_{x^{\infty}} \subseteq S_{x^{0}}$ .

Lemma 2. All positions in the set  $S_{x^{\infty}} = \{s: x \in X_{s^{\infty}}\}$  are winning positions for player I.

*Proof.* The sets  $S_{x\alpha} = \{s: x \in X_{s\alpha}\}$ , the complements in  $\Xi$  of the sets  $S_{x\alpha}$  defined above, satisfy the relations

$$s \in \widecheck{S}_{x\alpha} \leftrightarrow s \in \bigcup_{\gamma < \alpha} \widecheck{S}_{x\gamma} \lor \widecheck{Q}i \ (si \in \bigcup_{\gamma < \alpha} S_{x\gamma}) \leftrightarrow s \in \bigcup_{\gamma < \alpha} \widecheck{S}_{x\gamma} \lor \forall U \in Q \exists i \in U \ (si \in \bigcup_{\gamma < \alpha} \widecheck{S}_{x\gamma}),$$

where Q is the dual quantifier to Q, with logical function  $\exists V \in Q \quad \forall i \in V$ , or the equivalent  $\forall U \in Q \quad \exists i \in U$ . In addition, for  $\alpha = 0$ 

 $\widetilde{S}_{x0} = \{i \mid m \in RI: \exists n \leqslant m \ (x \notin X_{i\uparrow n})\}.$ 

From these two relations we immediately conclude, by induction on  $\alpha$ , that every position  $s \in \widetilde{S}_{x\alpha}$  is a win for player *I*. But  $\widetilde{S}_{x\alpha} = \bigcup_{\alpha} \widetilde{S}_{x\alpha}$ . The proof is complete.

Corollary 1. The Kolmogorov game  $\forall_{Qx} \{X_r\}$  is determined.

Indeed, the initial position  $\Lambda$  belongs to one of the mutually complementary sets  $S_{x\infty}$  and  $\breve{S}_{x\infty}$ , and is therefore, by the lemmas, a winning position for one of the players.

We recall that the determinacy of the game  $\forall_{Qx} \{X_r\}$  implies the consequential complementation property (13) of the transform  $\widetilde{R}$  defined by formula (10<sup>\*</sup>) of the preceding section.

**Corollary 2.** The sets  $X = R\Phi\{X_r\}$  and  $X = R\Phi\{X_r\}$  are mutually complementary.

Indices.

Parallel with the inductive construction (17), in [2] Kolmogorov gives a definition of the indices. For the system of notation adopted here,  $\operatorname{Ind}_{s} x = \infty$  for  $x \in X_{s\infty}$ , while if  $x \in \widetilde{X}_{s\infty}$ , then  $\operatorname{Ind}_{s} x$  is the least ordinal  $\alpha$  such that  $x \in \widetilde{X}_{s\alpha}$ .

Kolmogorov's theorem [2]. We have

$$X = X_{\Lambda 0} = \bigcap_{\alpha} X_{\Lambda \alpha} = \{x: \Lambda \in S_{x\infty}\} = \{x: \operatorname{Ind}_{\Lambda} x = \infty\};$$
  
$$\widecheck{X} = \widecheck{X}_{\Lambda 0} = \bigcup_{\alpha} \widecheck{X}_{\Lambda \alpha} = \{x: \Lambda \notin S_{x\infty}\} = \{x: \operatorname{Ind}_{\Lambda} x < \infty\}.$$

The proof is contained in Lemmas 1 and 2: for example,

 $x \in X \leftrightarrow Q$  has a WS in the game  $\forall_{Qx} \{X_r\} \leftrightarrow \Lambda \in S_{x\infty}$ .

*Remark* 1. Kolmogorov-style inductive analysis was the principal technique used by Lyapunov [20]-[25] in developing the classical theory of *R*-sets. In [20] he introduced the special term '*T*-operations' for those given by the inductive construction of formula (17).

Remark 2. With the development of a general theory of inductive definitions (see [37] and [66]) it has become clear that the correspondence, expressed in Kolmogorov's theorem, between a single application of the operations  $R\Phi$  and  $\overline{R\Phi}$  and the one-step inductive process (17) with operations  $\Phi$  and  $\overline{\Phi}$  represents a very deep principle of a general nature, amounting to the following. Suppose that each step of some inductive construction is carried out using a fixed system of operations. Then for a construction of "contracting" type (if the sets being constructed decrease, as for example in the case of the  $X_{s\alpha}$ ), the final result can be obtained from a single application of an operation which is the  $\overline{R}$ -transform of the superposition of the original operations, while for "expanding" constructions the R-transform must be taken. Moschovakis's theorem to this effect can be found in [66] or in [37], p.255, where possible generalizations are referred to on p.256.

Remark 3. The reader acquainted with the proof of the Gale-Stewart theorem [54] on the determinacy of open games (for a Russian version see [39]) will notice that the proofs of Lemmas 1 and 2 and Corollary 1 (which are direct translations of Kolmogorov's reasoning in [2] via the correspondence between chains and strategies explained in §3) are completely identical in essence with the arguments in [54]. The truth of the matter is that in the game  $\forall_{Qx} \{X_r\}$  the set of all "plays"  $i = \langle i_0, i_1, i_2, ... \rangle$  which conclude with a victory for player I is open in the space  $I^{\omega}$ .

It can be shown that many known proofs of the determinacy of games of one or another class fall rather naturally into the scheme of inductive analysis of the corresponding operations.

#### V.G. Kanovei

## §5. *R*-sets: construction of the hierarchy

In his concluding remarks following the text of [2], Kolmogorov mentions that any set on the real line can be constructed from open intervals by means of an associated  $\delta s$ -operation, having as basis chains of open intervals contracting on the points of this set—so that there is no particular point in studying completely general operations; on the other hand, it would be more interesting to pass to "special classes of sets, generated by sufficiently simple operations". But which operations are to be regarded as sufficiently simple?

The correct approach here can be deduced from an analogy with Kolmogorov's hierarchy of sets: once we are considering classes of sets closed under a given operation  $\Phi$  and under complementation (see §2), it is also natural to consider a collection of  $\delta s$ -operations closed under *R*-transforms and taking the complement of an operation, and also, for convenience, under superposition and containing, together with any operation, all equivalent operations, that is which give exactly the same sets when applied to any families of sets of a fixed class.

Such systems of operations, limited to  $\delta s$ -operations with index sets that are at most countable, were called *R*-closed by Lyapunov in [20], and among these he picked out the smallest *R*-closed system  $\mathcal{R}_0$  containing the operation  $\mathbf{E} := \bigcup_{\{0\}} = \bigcap_{\{0\}}$  as a basis. From the examples considered in §3 it is clear that  $\mathcal{R}_0$  includes the operations  $\bigcup_{\omega}$  and  $\bigcap_{\omega}$ , the *A*-operation, and Aleksandrov's  $\Gamma$ -operation [8] complementary to it, together with the other  $\delta s$ -operations obtained from E using various combinations of the transformations referred to in the definition of being *R*-closed. However in all this variety it is possible to distinguish a definite order, using the same idea of alternating a 'positive' transformation with a passage to the

complementary object that leads to Kolmogorov's hierarchy of sets.

## The normal series of operations.

This consists of  $\delta s$ -operations  $R_{\alpha}$ ,  $\breve{R}_{\alpha}$ , indexed by the finite and denumerable ordinals  $\alpha$ . The construction is by induction on  $\alpha$ :

 $R_0 = \bigcup_{\alpha}$  is the initial operation;

 $\widetilde{R}_{\alpha}$  is the complementary operation to  $R_{\alpha}$ ;

$$R_{\alpha} = R\left(\bigcap_{\alpha} |\{ \widetilde{R}_{\gamma} : \gamma < \alpha \}\right) \text{ for } \alpha \ge 1$$

(that is,  $R_{\alpha}$  is the *R*-transform of the superposition of all the operations  $R_{\gamma}$ ,  $\gamma < \alpha$ , with  $\bigcap_{\alpha}$  as the outer operation).

The source of this construction is [2], where Kolmogorov constructs the initial operations of the normal series using the scheme

$$\left( \bigcap_{\omega} = R_0 \right) \rightarrow \left( \bigcup_{\omega} = \widecheck{\bigcap}_{\omega} = \widecheck{R}_0 \right) \rightarrow (A = R \bigcup_{\omega} \approx R_1) \rightarrow \\ \rightarrow (\Gamma = \widecheck{A} = \widecheck{R}_1) \rightarrow (H = R\Gamma \approx R_2).$$

Exactly this definition is given by Lyapunov in [19]. We have used the same definition except for adding  $\bigcap_{\omega}$  and  $\bigcup_{\omega}$  as the zero level; Lyapunov

begins the normal series with A and  $\Gamma$ .

The following simple properties of the operations of the normal series are given in [20]; they are easily verified with the help of the theorems on properties of the *R*-transform in §3 and the complementation theorem of §1.

1. All operations of the normal series are included in  $\mathcal{R}_{0}$ .

2. If  $\Phi \in \mathcal{R}_0$ , then  $\Phi \leq R_\alpha$  for some  $\alpha < \omega_1$ .

- 3.  $R_{\alpha}R_{\alpha} \approx R_{\alpha}$  and  $H_{\alpha}R_{\alpha} \approx H_{\alpha}$  for all  $\alpha$ .
- 4.  $R_{\gamma} < R_{\alpha}, R_{\gamma} < \breve{R}_{\alpha}, \breve{R}_{\gamma} < R_{\alpha}, \breve{R}_{\gamma} < R_{\alpha}, \breve{R}_{\gamma} < \breve{R}_{\alpha}$  for  $\gamma < \alpha$ . We remark on two finer points in the construction. It is easy to see that

We remark on two finer points in the construction. It is easy to see that  $R_{\alpha} \approx RR_{\gamma}$  for  $\alpha = \gamma + 1$ , which means that  $R_{\gamma+1} = RR_{\gamma}$  can be taken as the definition of  $R_{\alpha}$  at non-limit stages, as is done for example in [47], leaving the third part of the above definition in force for limit  $\alpha$ . And it is also easy to see that

$$R_{\alpha} \approx R\left(\bigcap_{\alpha} |\{R_{\gamma}\widetilde{R}_{\gamma}: \gamma < \alpha\}\right),$$

so that this can also be taken as a basis for the construction, as is done in fact by Lyapunov in [20].

## R-sets.

According to the definition in [19], [20], these comprise the smallest class of sets, in the space under consideration, containing all open sets (equivalently, in Polish spaces, all closed sets or all Borel sets) and closed under all the operations  $R_{\alpha}$  and  $H_{\alpha}$ . The hierarchy of *R*-sets consists of the sequence of mutually complementary classes

$$\Sigma \mathbf{R}_{\alpha} = R_{\alpha}(\mathbf{F}), \quad \Pi \mathbf{R}_{\alpha} = R_{\alpha}(\mathbf{G}),$$

from which the class  $\Delta \mathbf{R}_{\alpha} = \Sigma \mathbf{R}_{\alpha} \cap \mathbf{IIR}_{\alpha}$  is obtained. (Traditionally these are denoted by  $R_{\alpha}$ ,  $CR_{\alpha}$ ,  $BR_{\alpha}$  respectively.)

Thus  $\Sigma \mathbf{R}_0 = \mathbf{F}$  and  $\mathbf{IIR}_0 = \mathbf{G}$  are the classes of closed and open sets respectively, and  $\Sigma \mathbf{R}_1 = \mathbf{A}$  is the class of Suslin or A-sets, and so on.

The classes  $\Sigma \mathbf{R}_{\alpha}$ ,  $\mathbf{\Pi} \mathbf{R}_{\alpha}$  possess properties which are exactly analogous to those of the corresponding operations described above and are consequences of these (and of the fact that  $\mathbf{G} \subseteq \mathbf{F}_{\sigma}$  in Polish spaces). Thus:

1. Every *R*-set is in one of the classes  $\Sigma R_{\alpha}$ ,  $\Pi R_{\alpha}$ —and then in all later classes.

2. If  $\gamma < \alpha < \omega_1$ , then  $\Sigma \mathbf{R}_{\gamma} \cup \Pi \mathbf{R}_{\gamma} \subseteq \Delta \mathbf{R}_{\alpha}$ .

3. The classes  $\Sigma R_{\alpha}$ ,  $\Pi R_{\alpha}$  are closed under the operations  $R_{\alpha}$  and  $\bar{R}_{\alpha}$  respectively. From this and the above it follows that

$$\Sigma \mathbf{R}_{\alpha} = R_{\alpha}(\mathbf{B})$$
 and  $\Pi \mathbf{R}_{\alpha} = \overline{R}_{\alpha}(\mathbf{B})$  for  $\alpha \ge 1$ .

A finer hierarchy of subclasses, defined by  $\Sigma \mathbf{R}_{\alpha\xi} = \Sigma_{\xi}^{R_{\alpha}}$  (in the sense of §1), can also be considered. Lyapunov [20], [21] established that the class  $\nabla(R_{\alpha}) = \bigcup_{\xi < \omega_1} \Sigma \mathbf{R}_{\alpha\xi}$  formed from these subclasses is identical with  $\Delta \mathbf{R}_{\alpha+1}$  only for  $\alpha = 0$  (essentially, this is Suslin's theorem [32]), while for  $\alpha \ge 1$  it is a proper subclass.

We should note that  $\nabla(\mathbf{R}_0) = \Delta \mathbf{R}_1 = \mathbf{B}$  is the class of Borel sets, while  $\nabla(\mathbf{R}_1) = \nabla(\mathbf{A}) = \mathbf{C}$  is the class of all C-sets in the given space.

The broad field of research on R-sets will be discussed in §7 of this survey, and here we confine ourselves to what is perhaps the most fundamental problem: the relations between R-sets and projective sets.

### The position of the *R*-sets in the projective hierarchy.

This is both a very important question, because Luzin's projective hierarchy is regarded within descriptive set theory as the scale of complexity for point sets, and also a very difficult one, because even for the essentially simpler C-sets the problem of projective classification was solved by Kantorovich and Livenson [10], [12] only a number of years later than their introduction and the appearance of Selivanovskii's paper [31] in which the problem was posed.

The solution for *R*-sets was found by Lyapunov:

**Theorem 1** [20]. All R-sets belong to the class  $\Delta_2^1$ .

(We are using the modern notation  $\Sigma_n^i$ ,  $\Pi_n^i$ ,  $\Delta_n^i$  for the projective classes, corresponding to the more traditional  $A_n$ ,  $CA_n$ ,  $B_n$ : see [9], [33], [41].)

The proof depends on the following lemma.

**Lemma 1** [20]. If the  $\delta s$ -operation  $\Phi$  over a denumerable index set has complete basis Q of class  $\Delta_n^i$  where  $n \ge 1$ , then  $\Phi(\Delta_n^i) \subseteq \Delta_n^i$ .

The proof of this may be written as the double equivalence

$$x \in \Phi\{X_i\} \leftrightarrow \exists U \subseteq I(U \in Q \land \forall i \in U(x \in X_i)) \leftrightarrow \\ \leftrightarrow \forall U \subseteq I(\forall i(x \in X_i \to i \in U) \to U \in Q),$$

from which the result follows, since when applied to a  $\Delta_n^i$ -relation the quantifier  $\exists U \subseteq I$  gives a  $\Sigma_n^i$ -relation and the quantifier  $\forall U \subseteq I$  gives a  $\Pi_n^i$ -relation. The completeness of the basis Q is needed only in deriving the second equivalence.

Now, for the proof of the theorem we need only verify that all the complete bases  $Q_{\alpha}$  of the operations  $R_{\alpha}$  are  $\Delta_{2}^{i}$ -sets in the space  $\mathscr{P}(I_{\alpha})$ ,

where  $I_{\alpha}$  is the index set of  $R_{\alpha}$ . This was shown by Lyapunov in [20], Ch. III, and he presented the proof of the theorem, in a somewhat different form, in [23].

Lyapunov's theorem does not, however, shed full light on the question under consideration, since it is unclear whether the class of all *R*-sets is a proper subclass of  $\Delta_2^t$  or the whole of it. This additional question greatly interested Lyapunov (see [25]), but it was found impossible to answer it using only the techniques of the classical theory of the *R*-transform. A definitive solution was obtained by John Burgess [47]-[50] on the basis of a generalization of the construction of the *R*-transform that can easily be derived from the "game-theoretical" definition (a classical analogue is not known).

#### §6. The nature of *R*-sets

During research at the beginning of the 80's, new approaches to R-sets were discovered. On the whole, these originate from the ideas and constructions in Kolmogorov's paper [2] and by the generalization of one or another feature make it possible to consider the R-sets from a completely new standpoint. We shall discuss three such ideas: programming, game-theoretical Borel operations, and game-theoretical projection or the game-operator.

#### Programming Borel sets.

The definition of this operation was given by David Blackwell in [46]. Let  $p_S \in \mathbb{X}$  a denumerable set  $\Xi$ . Then a *program* is any function  $p: \mathscr{P}(\Xi) \to \mathscr{P}(\Xi)$ with the property that  $S \subseteq p(S)$  for every  $S \subseteq \Xi$ . The sequence of *derived* programs from a given program p is constructed by transfinite induction on  $\alpha$ :

$$p_0 = p$$
 and  $p_\alpha(S) = p(\bigcup_{\gamma < \alpha} p_\gamma(S))$  for  $\alpha > 0$ .

The limit program  $p_{\infty} = p_{\omega_1}$  in this sequence obviously does not then change, that is,  $pp_{\infty} = p_{\infty}$ .

Further, let H be any collection of point sets (for example, the class of Borel sets  $\mathbf{B} = \Delta_1^i$ ). A function F is called *H*-measurable if the *F*-inverse images of open sets all belong to H, and *H*-programmed if it is a superposition  $F = f_1 p_{\infty} f_2$  for some *H*-measurable program p and **B**-measurable functions  $f_1$ and  $f_2$ . (The set  $\mathscr{F}(\Xi)$  is assumed to have the natural topology of the Cantor discontinuum, relative to which the *H*-measurability of programs is considered.) Finally, a point set is called *H*-programmable if its characteristic function is *H*-programmable; the collection of all such sets is denoted by HP.

For example, in the situation of §4 we take  $\Xi = RI \cup \{\Lambda\}$  and for  $S \subseteq \Xi$  define

$$p(S) = S \cup \{s \in \Xi : Qi(si \in S)\}.$$

If the quantifier Q is Borel as a subset of  $\mathscr{P}(\Xi)(\operatorname{say} Q = \exists \text{ or } \forall)$  then this program will be B-measurable, and the sets X and X B-programmable: for example, for X we may take  $f_1(x) = \{r \in RI : x \notin X_r\}$  and  $f_2(S) = 1$  or 0 depending on whether or not the empty string  $\Lambda$  belongs to the set  $S \subseteq \Xi$ . Thus, taking  $Q = \forall$  (then  $\Phi = \bigcup$  and  $R\Phi = A$ ) we conclude that all A-sets and all CA-sets are B-programmable. In fact, the class BP also includes all C-sets but not only these, and is itself a proper subclass of  $\Delta R_2$ : see [47], [50]. As we see, programming develops from a Kolmogorov-style inductive analysis.

The operation of programming can be carried out repeatedly, leading to the construction of classes  $\mathbf{P}_{\alpha}$  by induction on  $\alpha < \omega_1$ :  $\mathbf{P}_0 = \mathbf{B}$  and  $\mathbf{P}_{\alpha} = (\bigcup_{\gamma < \alpha} \mathbf{P}_{\gamma}) P$  for  $\alpha > 0$ . Sets of the class  $\mathbf{P} = \bigcup_{\alpha < \omega_1} \mathbf{P}_{\alpha}$  are called programmable [50]; it is easy to see that  $\mathbf{P}P = \mathbf{P}$  and  $\mathbf{P}$  is the smallest class with this property (among those containing the Borel sets). In [50] the following is proved.

Theorem 1. P coincides with the class of all R-sets.

However the example given above shows that levels in the two hierarchies do not coincide exactly.

#### Game-theoretical Borel operations.

The starting-point of these is a generalization of the transforms R and  $\overline{R}$  involving not the course of the game serving to interpret a row of quantifiers, but the definition of a winner as the outcome. Let  $\lambda$  be a quantifier, not necessarily monotonic, over the set  $\omega$  of natural numbers. Consider the operation  $R\Phi/\lambda$  defined as follows:

$$x \in R\Phi/\lambda\{X_r\} \leftrightarrow Qi_0Qi_1Qi_2 \ldots \lambda m(x \in X_{i},m),$$

where the right hand side of the equivalence is interpreted in terms of a game completely analogous to the games  $\forall_{Qx} \{X_r\}$  and  $\exists_{Qx} \{X_r\}$  of §3 except for the fact that the player Q is declared the winner if the condition  $\{m: x \in X_{i \uparrow m}\} \in \lambda$  is satisfied, that is, if  $\lambda m(x \in X_{i \uparrow m})$ .

The rich potential of this generalization is already apparent in the rather simple (but most frequently investigated) case  $Q = \forall \exists$ . Vaught and Shilling [71], [69] constructed and studied operations  $G\lambda$  ( $G_L^{\omega}$  in their notation), defining their action in the following way:

(18) 
$$x \in G\lambda\{X_r: r \in R\omega\} \leftrightarrow \forall i_0 \exists i_1 \forall i_2 \exists i_3 \ldots \lambda n (x \in X_{i+n}),$$

where each  $i_n$  runs over  $\omega$ . Thus  $x \in G\lambda\{X_r\}$  if the player  $\exists$  has a winning strategy in the game  $\lambda_x\{X_r\}$ , where the players  $\forall$  and  $\exists$  make alternate moves in the form of the natural numbers  $i_0$ ,  $i_1$ ,  $i_2$ ,  $i_3$ , ... (beginning, of course, with  $\forall$ ), and  $\exists$  wins if the set  $\{n: x \in X_{i \uparrow n}\}$  belongs to  $\lambda$ .

The greatest opportunity for interesting research is given by operations  $G\lambda$  which are Borel, that is, when the quantifier  $\lambda$  is Borel (as a subset of the space  $\mathscr{P}(\omega)$  with the topology of the Cantor discontinuum); these are the operations considered in [71], [69]. In general, for a given class L each operation  $G\lambda$  with  $\lambda \in L$  can be called a game-theoretical L-operation. If in addition a specific class K is also fixed, then GL(K) denotes the collection of all sets of the form  $G\lambda\{X_r\}$ , where  $\lambda \in L$  and each  $X_r$  belongs to K. Below we shall show that the nature of the sets in GL(K) is determined by the class L, and does not depend effectively on K, at least in the Borel situation.

#### Game-theoretical projection.

This is an operation of a different type from those considered so far in this survey. It is closely connected with projection in the ordinary sense, and is related to the Borel game-theoretical operations in exactly the same way as projection is to the A-operation; that is, it is stronger in principle, but in the Borel case leads to the same result.

Let  $P \subseteq \mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{N}$ , where  $\mathcal{X}$  is the underlying space under consideration and  $\mathcal{N} = \omega^{\omega}$  is Baire space, consisting of all infinite sequences  $\mathbf{i} = \langle i_0, i_1, i_2, ... \rangle$  of natural numbers  $i_n$ . We put

$$\mathfrak{H}P = \{ x \in \mathcal{X} \colon \forall i_0 \exists i_1 \forall i_2 \exists i_3 \ldots (\langle x, \mathbf{i} \rangle \in P) \}.$$

Thus  $x \in \mathfrak{O}P$  when the player  $\exists$  has a WS in the game  $\mathfrak{O}_x P$ , which proceeds similarly to the game  $G\lambda_x\{X_r\}$  described above, but  $\exists$  is regarded as the winner when the condition  $\langle x, i \rangle \in P$  is satisfied, where  $\mathbf{i} = \langle i_0, i_1, i_2, ... \rangle$ .

If K is some class of point sets, then  $\mathfrak{S}K$  denotes the collection of all sets of the form  $\mathfrak{S}P$  for  $P \in K$ .

## **Proposition** (given in [69]). $\mathfrak{B} = GB(B)$ .

The implication from left to right is very simple: the set

$$P = \{ \langle x, \mathbf{i} \rangle : \lambda n(x \in X_{i \uparrow n}) \}$$

is Borel, being the inverse image of the Borel  $\lambda$  under the mapping  $\langle x, \mathbf{i} \rangle \rightarrow \{n: x \in X_{i\uparrow n}\}$ , which is B-measurable for Borel  $X_r$ 's. The reverse implication is proved by induction on the Borel structure of P.

Remark. It can be shown that in general

$$\mathfrak{S}L = GL(\mathbf{B}) = GL(\mathbf{F}) = GL(\mathbf{G})$$

for every class L in the Borel hierarchy, that is, the action of the operations of a fixed class  $L = \Sigma_{\alpha}^{0}$ ,  $\Pi_{\alpha}^{c}$ , or  $\Delta_{\alpha}^{0}$  on 1) the Borel sets (the class **B**), 2) the closed sets (the class **F**), and 3) the open sets (the class **G**) in each case gives exactly the same sets as game-theoretical projection of the sets in L.

## Game-theoretical projection and the R-sets.

The following theorem of Burgess [47], [49] is probably the deepest one in the whole of the modern theory of operations on sets.

## Theorem 2. $\Im \Delta_1^0 = B$ , $\Im \Delta_2^0 = C$ , $\Im \Delta_3^0 = R$ .

Above all, these three formulae demonstrate the remarkably natural character of the concepts of C-sets and R-sets themselves: we see that a very general kind of process transforms the initial  $\Delta$ -classes of the Borel hierarchy

 $\Delta_1^{\mathfrak{o}} = \mathbf{F} \cap \mathbf{G}, \quad \Delta_2^{\mathfrak{o}} = \mathbf{F}_{\sigma} \cap \mathbf{G}_{\delta}, \quad \Delta_3^{\mathfrak{o}} = \mathbf{F}_{\sigma\delta} \cap \mathbf{G}_{\delta\sigma}$ 

into the classes B (Borel sets), C, and R.

**Proviso.** We have formulated the first equation of Burgess's theorem in standard form, valid for sets in the Baire space  $\mathscr{N}^2$ , in which the open-andclosed sets form a basis for the topology. When it is applied to sets in an arbitrary (complete) Polish space  $\mathscr{X}$ , the class  $\Delta_1^0$  must be replaced by the family of all closed sets (or all open, or all Borel sets, which lead to the same result)  $P \subseteq \mathscr{X} \times \mathscr{N}$  with the property that every section  $P_x = \{\alpha: \langle x, \alpha \rangle \in P\}$  is a  $\Delta_1^0$ -set in  $\mathscr{N}$ . The second and third formulae are true in the general case, but in addition remain valid if  $\Delta_2^0$  and  $\Delta_3^0$  are replaced by the families of all Borel sets with sections belonging to  $\Lambda_2^0$  and  $\Delta_3^0$  respectively.

Burgess's theorem can be reformulated in terms of operations. For

example, for the third formula, 1) all the operations  $R_{\alpha}$  and  $R_{\alpha}$  can be represented in an equivalent form  $G\lambda$  with a monotonic quantifier  $\lambda \subseteq \mathscr{P}(\omega)$  of class  $\Delta_{3}^{0}$ , and conversely 2) R is closed under the action of any game-theoretical  $\Delta_{3}^{0}$ -operation.

Moreover, the formula  $\mathbf{R} = \mathfrak{D} \Delta_3^0$  in the theorem leads to a complete solution of the problem of the precise relation of the class of *R*-sets to the projective class  $\Delta_2^1$ . The solution is based on three simple facts.

**Assertion 1.** If P is a Borel set, then for every point x the game  $\mathfrak{S}_x P$  is determined.

Indeed, the set  $P_x = \{i: \langle x, i \rangle \in P\}$  of all plays that are wins for player  $\exists$  is a Borel set, and all the games satisfying this condition (called Borel games) are determined, by Martin's theorem [62] (see also [63], [67]).

## Assertion 2. $\mathfrak{H}^B \subseteq \Delta_2^{\mathfrak{i}}$ .

Consider an arbitrary Borel P. By definition

$$x \in \mathfrak{H}P \leftrightarrow \exists \sigma(\sigma \text{ is a s. for } \exists) \forall \tau(\tau \text{ is a s. for } \forall) \sigma * \tau \in P_x \leftrightarrow$$

 $\leftrightarrow \exists \tau(\tau \text{ is a s. for } \forall) \forall \sigma(\sigma \text{ is a s. for } \exists) \sigma * \tau \notin P_x,$ 

where "s." stands for "strategy",  $\sigma * \tau$  denotes the play  $\mathbf{i} = \langle i_0, i_1, ... \rangle$  of the game  $\mathfrak{S}_{\mathcal{X}} P$  uniquely determined by the strategies  $\sigma$  and  $\tau$  of the two players  $\exists$  and  $\forall$ , and the second equivalence is a consequence of the determinacy of the game. But strategies are here functions on the set  $R\omega$  of all finite strings of natural numbers, with values in  $\omega$ , and so any bijection from  $R\omega$  to  $\omega$  induces a coding of the strategies by the points of  $\mathcal{N}^{\circ}$ , by means of which the double equivalence reduces to

$$x \in \mathfrak{H}P \leftrightarrow \exists \sigma \in \mathcal{J}^{\circ} \forall \tau \in \mathcal{J}^{\circ} P_{1}(x, \sigma, \tau) \leftrightarrow \neg \exists \tau \in \mathcal{N} \forall \sigma \in \mathcal{J}^{\circ} P_{2}(x, \sigma, \tau),$$

where  $P_1$  and  $P_2$  are Borel relations. Hence it follows that  $\mathfrak{D}P \in \Sigma_2^i$  and  $\mathfrak{D}P \in \Pi_2^i$ , and thus  $\mathfrak{D}P \in \Delta_2^i$ .

Assertion 3. In each class  $\mathfrak{SH}^{0}_{\alpha}$  there exists a set whose complement does not belong to this class.

This is proved by exactly the same argument as the complementation theorem of §2.

# **Corollary.** The class of all R-sets is a proper subclass of the projective class $\Delta_2^1$ .

Indeed, if we suppose that  $\mathbf{R} = \mathbf{\mathfrak{D}} \Delta_3^0 = \Delta_2^1$ , we automatically obtain  $\mathbf{\mathfrak{D}} \Pi_3^n = \Delta_2^1$ , since  $\Delta_3^0 \subseteq \Pi_3^0$  and  $\mathbf{\mathfrak{D}} \Pi_3^0 \subseteq \mathbf{\mathfrak{D}} \mathbf{B}$ , which however leads to a contradiction with Assertion 3, since  $\Delta_2^1$  is closed under complementation.

Thus we have a strictly increasing sequence of classes  $\mathfrak{D} \Delta_{\alpha}^{\mathfrak{o}}$ ,  $\alpha < \omega_1$ , generated by the game-theoretical projections of the  $\Delta_{\alpha}^{\mathfrak{o}}$ -sets. The union of these is  $\mathfrak{D} \mathbf{B} \subseteq \Delta_2^{\mathfrak{o}}$ . Here, again, one may ask whether there is equality or strict inclusion, and again the answer is that the inclusion is strict. The truth of the matter is that all the sets of  $\mathfrak{D} \mathbf{B}$  are among the "absolute  $\Delta_2^{\mathfrak{o}}$ -sets" of Solovay (this follows from the proof of Assertion 2), and these form a proper subclass of  $\Delta_2^{\mathfrak{o}}$  (see [50], [52], [68]).

#### The proof of Burgess's theorem.

The formula  $\bigcup \Delta_1^0 = \mathbf{B}$  should probably be described as "folk-lore": it was known before Burgess's work and has a rather simple proof (see, for example, [67]). The proof of the other two formulae has not so far been published in full. In [47], [49] only an outline is given, from which the general idea can be seen, however: to set up a correspondence between the classes in the hierarchy of *R*-sets (or of *C*-sets) and subclasses of the difference hierarchy of the class  $\Delta_3^0$  (respectively  $\Delta_2^0$ ). We shall consider this argument for the *R*-sets.

It is proved in the theory of Borel sets that for every  $\Delta_a^{0}$ -set X we can pick an ordinal  $\xi$ ,  $1 \leq \xi < \omega_1$ , and a decreasing (with respect to  $\subseteq$ ) sequence of sets  $X_{\nu}$ ,  $\nu < \xi$ , of the class  $\Pi_2^{0} = G_{\delta}$  such that  $X = \bigcup_{\nu} (X_{\nu} - X_{\nu+1})$ , where the union is taken over all even ordinals  $\nu < \xi$ , where if  $\xi$  itself is odd, then we must also define  $X_{\xi} = \emptyset$ . All the sets X that can be defined in this way for a fixed  $\xi$  constitute a subclass  $\Pi_{2,\xi}^{0}$  of  $\Lambda_{3}^{0}$ . In particular  $\Pi_{2,1}^{0} = \Pi_{2}^{0}$ , and  $\Pi_{2,2}^{0}$  is the class of all differences of two  $\Pi_{2}^{0}$ -sets, and so on, with  $\Lambda_{3}^{0} = \bigcup_{1 \leq \xi < \omega_{1}} \Pi_{2,\xi}^{0}$ . (Of course the construction of the subclasses can be carried out in any Borel  $\Lambda$ -class. The subclasses were first introduced by Lavrent'ev; then they were considered by Luzin [17], Lyapunov, Kuratowski [15], and others.)

Thus Burgess asserts in [49] that  $\Im \Pi_{2,\xi}^{0} = \Pi R_{1+\xi}$  or  $= \Sigma R_{1+\xi}$  according as  $\xi$  is even or odd. We shall present the proof in the simplest case  $\xi = 1$  (in [49],  $\xi = 2$  is taken) and then add a few words about the general case.

From  $\Sigma \mathbf{R}_2$  to  $\mathfrak{S} \Pi_2^0$ . By definition, the operation  $R_2$  is equivalent to  $\widetilde{RR} \cap$ , that is, all the sets X of  $\Sigma \mathbf{R}_2$  are such that

(19) 
$$x \in X \leftrightarrow \forall j_{00} \forall j_{01} \forall j_{02} \ldots \exists m_0 \forall j_{10} \forall j_{11} \ldots \exists m_1 \ldots$$
  
 $\ldots \forall j_{l0} \forall j_{l1} \ldots \exists m_l \ldots \forall k \ (x \in X_{j \uparrow \uparrow h}),$ 

where  $j \nmid k = \langle j_0 \mid m_0, \ldots, j_k \mid m_k \rangle$ ,  $j_1 \mid m_1 = \langle j_{10}, \ldots, j_{1m_1} \rangle$  and all the sets  $X_s$ ,  $s \in RR\omega$ , are closed. We have to deduce that  $X = \mathfrak{D}P$  for a suitable  $\Pi_2^0$ -set P.

The right-hand side of the equivalence (19) is interpreted in terms of the game  $\forall_x^2 \{X_s\}$  of length  $(\omega + 1)\omega$ , where player  $\forall$  makes the moves  $j_{lq}$  and player  $\exists$  the moves  $m_l$  (after completion of the sequence of all moves  $j_{lq}, q \in \omega$ , by the opponent), and at the end of the game, a win for  $\exists$  is defined to occur when  $x \in X_{j\uparrow\uparrow k}$  for all k. The key feature of this game is that each play  $j_{l0}, j_{l1}, \ldots, m_l$  can be organized so as to be infinite in only a potential sense, since if player  $\exists$  has one or another justification for making some particular move  $m_l$  after the completion of all the moves  $j_{lq}, q \in \omega$ , by player  $\forall$  in the round l, then this justification is already operative after the move  $j_{lm_l}$ . And if at this point (thus before a decision)  $\exists$  makes the move  $m_l$ , then all the subsequent moves  $j_{lq}, q \ge m_l$ , by player  $\forall$  in round l will have no effect on the outcome, and one can therefore pass immediately to the next round.

This argument leads to the following auxiliary game  $G'_x$  of length only  $\omega$ . The players  $\forall$  and  $\exists$  (beginning with  $\forall$ ) make the alternative moves  $b_0$ ,  $\varepsilon_0$ ,  $b_1$ ,  $\varepsilon_1$ ,  $\ldots \in \omega$ . If the numbers  $\varepsilon_p$ ,  $p \in \omega$ , include only finitely many zeros, then  $\forall$  wins. If there are infinitely many  $\varepsilon_p$ 's equal to zero, let their indices be  $p_1$ ,  $p_2$ ,  $p_3$ , ... in increasing order, and put  $p_0 = -1$ . Let  $m_l = p_{l+1} - p_l - 1$ , and also

(20)  $b \uparrow k = \langle r_0, \ldots, r_h \rangle$ , where  $r_l = \langle b_{p(l)+1}, b_{p(l)+2}, \ldots, b_{p(l+1)} \rangle$ 

and specify a win for  $\exists$  in the case when  $x \in X_{b \uparrow \uparrow k}$  for all k. This completes the definition of the game  $G'_x$ .

The game  $G'_x$  is equivalent to the game  $\forall_x^2 \{X_s\}$  in the sense that the existence of a WS for player  $\exists$  in one of these games is equivalent to the same thing in the other. On the other hand,  $G'_x$  is none other than the game  $\mathfrak{D}_x P$  where P is the set of all pairs  $\langle x, \mathbf{i} \rangle$  such that  $x \in \mathcal{X}$ ,  $\mathbf{i} = \langle b_0, \varepsilon_0, b_1, \varepsilon_1, \ldots \rangle \in \mathcal{N}$ , and

$$\forall k \exists p \ge k \ (\varepsilon_p = 0) \ \land \ \forall k \ (x \in X_{b \uparrow \uparrow k})$$

where the string of strings  $b \models k$  is defined by (20). Therefore  $X = \mathfrak{D}P$ . However, because the set  $X_{b \models \dagger k}$  is closed the set P belongs to the class  $\Pi_2^0 = \mathbf{G}_{\delta}$ .

From  $\mathfrak{G}\Pi_2^{\mathfrak{o}}$  to  $\mathfrak{Z}\mathbf{R}_2$ . Now we assume that  $X = \mathfrak{G}P$  with P in the class  $\Pi_2^{\mathfrak{o}}$ , and we must prove that  $X \in \mathfrak{Z}\mathbf{R}_2$ . First, it is easy to see that P is of the form  $P = \{\langle x, i \rangle : \forall k \exists l(x \in Y_{i \uparrow l}^k)\}$ , where all the  $Y_{i \uparrow l}^k \subseteq \mathscr{X}$  are closed, and without loss of generality we may assume that  $Y_{i \uparrow l}^k \subseteq Y_{i \uparrow l}^k$  for  $p \leq l$  for every string  $i \uparrow l \in R\omega$  (otherwise, we put  $\widetilde{Y}_{i \uparrow l}^k = \bigcup_{p \leq l} Y_{i \uparrow l}^k$ ).

Further, if after the construction of an infinite sequence of moves  $\mathbf{i} = \langle i_0, i_1, i_2, \ldots \rangle$  in the game  $\mathfrak{H}_x P$  we obtain  $x \in X_{i|l}^k$  for some l = l(k) (and hence, by hypothesis, also for all  $l' \ge l$ ), then this has in fact become clear after the moves  $i_0, \ldots, i_l$ . Consequently

$$x \in X \leftrightarrow \forall j_{00} \exists j_{01} \forall j_{02} \exists j_{03} \ldots \exists m_0 \forall j_{10} \exists j_{11} \ldots \exists m_1 \ldots \\ \ldots \forall j_{l0} \exists j_{l1} \ldots \exists m_l \ldots \forall k (x \in X_{j_1 \uparrow k}),$$

where each of the closed sets  $X_{j\uparrow\uparrow k}$  is defined as follows. The string  $j\uparrow\uparrow k$  is converted to the simple string

$$i \mid m = \langle j_{00}, j_{01}, \ldots, j_{0m_0}, j_{10}, \ldots, j_{1m_1}, \ldots, j_{k0}, \ldots, j_{km_k} \rangle$$

of length  $n = m_0 + ... + m_k$ , after which we put  $X_{j \uparrow \uparrow k} = Y_{i \uparrow n}^k$ .

This proves that X is obtained by applying the operation  $\Psi = RR(\bigcap \bigcup)$ 

to the family of closed sets we have constructed. However, by the theorem on the properties of the transform R at the end of §3, which of course is also valid for the "complementary" transform  $\widetilde{R}$ , and because  $\bigcap_{\omega} \bigcup_{\omega} \leqslant \Gamma = \widetilde{R} \bigcap_{\omega}$ , we have

$$\widecheck{R}_{\omega} \leqslant \widecheck{R}(\bigcap_{\omega} \bigcup_{\omega}) \leqslant \widecheck{R}\widecheck{R} \bigcap_{\omega} \approx \widecheck{R} \bigcap_{\omega},$$

from which it follows that  $\widetilde{R}(\bigcap_{\omega} \bigcup_{\omega}) \approx \widetilde{R} \bigcap_{\omega}$ . Thus  $\Psi$  is equivalent to the operation  $R_2 \approx \widetilde{RR} \bigcap_{\omega}$ , and therefore  $X \in \Sigma R_2$ .

The general case. In the more interesting direction  $\mathbf{R} \subseteq \mathfrak{D}\Delta_3^0$  (as regards the projective characterization of the *R*-sets), the idea of the proof of Burgess's theorem can be clearly seen from the derivation of the inclusion  $\mathbf{\Pi R}_3 \subseteq \mathfrak{D}\mathbf{I}_{2,2}^0$  given in [49]. The canonical definition of a  $\mathbf{\Pi R}_3$ -set can be written as follows:

$$x \in X \leftrightarrow \square_0 \square_1 \square_2 \ldots \exists n(x \in X_{j \uparrow \uparrow \uparrow n}),$$

where all the  $X_{j_1j_1j_n}$  are open, and each  $\Box_p$  is a complete quantifier prefix of the form (19), in which all the variables receive an additional (first) index p, that is,  $\Box_p$  is  $\forall j_{pu0} \ldots \exists m_{p0} \ldots \forall k_p$ .

The "modelling game" of length  $\omega$  is so arranged that 1) the player  $\forall$  makes moves corresponding to the  $j_{plm}$ , 2) the player  $\exists$  makes moves corresponding to the  $m_{pl}$  and signifying the end of a round, and 3) player  $\forall$  may also make moves corresponding to  $k_p$  and signifying the termination of super-plays (one super-play comprises several rounds— $m_{pl}$  of them). A win for  $\exists$  in this game occurs when player  $\exists$  has made infinitely many moves, corresponding to the  $m_{pl}$ , and either  $\forall$  has made finitely many moves of the type  $k_p$ , or a natural win for  $\exists$  occurs, in the sense of the system of sets  $X_{j+1+n}$ . A straightforward analysis shows that we now arrive at the action of the operator  $\exists$  on a set which is the difference of two  $\Pi_2^0$ -sets (each of which expresses that there are infinitely many of the specified moves).

At higher levels of the hierarchy of *R*-sets the structure of the rounds of various ranks becomes correspondingly more complicated, but in fact everything reduces to difference combinations of  $\Pi_2^0$ -relations requiring that the number of moves of a specific type is infinite (plus a simple relation for a natural win), upon which  $\mathfrak{S}$  is then superposed.

## §7. Properties of *R*-sets

Here we shall consider three lines of research into R-sets: measure and category; partitioning into Borel sets; and the principle of comparison of indices. These may be said to have been inherited from classical descriptive set theory, in which Luzin and his students made a detailed study of the A-operation and its geometric equivalent—the operation of sifting by means of a sieve. However, direct generalization of the results connected with A-sets became possible only after Kolmogorov had isolated the general mechanism lying behind the principal properties of the A-operation, namely the R-transform. Essentially, all three of the lines we have selected are related to a greater or lesser degree to Kolmogorov's paper [2] and in a certain sense spring from it.

#### Measure and category.

Every Borel set on the real line is Lebesgue measurable and has the Baire property, which means that it coincides with an open set to within sets of first category. This assertion can be derived from the fact that the operations  $\bigcup_{\omega}$  and  $\bigcap_{\omega}$ , used in the construction of the Borel sets, preserve measurability (that is, when applied to measurable sets they yield measurable sets) and (in the same sense) the Baire property. Immediately after the introduction of

the A-operation by Aleksandrov [7] and the construction by Suslin [32] of the class of A-sets (that is, the Suslin or, in another terminology,  $\Sigma_1^{1}$ -sets), Luzin and Sierpiński [18] (see also [17]) proved that the A-operation also preserves measurability and the Baire property, and therefore all A-sets on the real line, and their complements the CA-sets, are Lebesgue measurable and possess the Baire property.

Thus the property "preserves measurability and the Baire property" was extended from the operations  $\bigcup_{\omega}$  and  $\bigcap_{\omega}$  (for which it is obvious) to the

A-operation. In Theorem VI of [2], Kolmogorov shows that the fact that this extension is possible can be based on the single fact that the A-operation is the R-transform of the operation  $\bigcup$ . Here is the formulation of his

theorem: if the  $\delta s$ -operation  $\Phi$  (with countable index set; only such operations are discussed below) preserves measurability, then the operation  $R\Phi$  also preserves measurability. This theorem was stated without proof in [2]—a proof was first published by Lyapunov [20] (with acknowledgement to Kolmogorov), together with one for the corresponding theorem concerning the Baire property. Lyapunov deduced that:

1) all R-sets on the real line are measurable (with an appropriate generalization of Lebesgue measurability, this result remains valid for all Polish spaces, as Lyapunov shows); and

2) all R-sets have the Baire property. (This is valid for every Polish space,)

In recent work the results for the Baire property have undergone farreaching generalizations within the framework of the "game-theoretical" approach to operations. In particular, Kechris [60] established that the Baire property is possessed by all sets of the class  $\Im B$ , which is, as we have seen, significantly broader than the class of *R*-sets. Shilling and Vaught [69] have shown that all game-theoretical Borel operations preserve the Baire property (which implies the Kechris result). The proof of the Shilling-Vaught theorem involves the use of a special game which is described by the quantifier prefix of the following Burgess formula:

$$\forall H_0 \subseteq II \forall i_0 \exists II_1 \subseteq H_0 \exists i_1 \forall H_2 \subseteq H_1 \forall i_2 \ldots \lambda n \exists m(H_m \leqslant X_{i\uparrow n}).$$

Here each  $H_m$  must belong to a fixed countable basis for the topology of the given space,  $A \leq B$  denotes that A - B is a set of first category,  $\{X_r\}$  is the family of open sets to which the operation  $G\lambda$  is applied, and H is a fixed open set. This game is determined (for a Borel  $\lambda$ ) and 1) if the player  $\exists$  has a winning strategy, then  $H \leq X$ , where  $X = G\lambda\{X_r\}$ , but 2) if the player  $\forall$  has a WS beginning with some move  $H_0$ , then  $H_0 \leq (H_0 - X)$ . This implies that X has the Baire property. See [45], [48]-[50], [69], [71] for further work on the Baire property.

A game-theoretical analysis of measurability demands recourse to essentially more complex games than those associated with the Baire property. This is probably the reason why in recent papers on Borel game-theoretical operations measure is rarely considered separately—usually there is merely a remark to the effect that results can be obtained for measure similar to those valid for category. In particular, it is stated in [69] that Borel game-theoretical operations preserve measurability (with respect to a rather broad class of measures), and consequently all sets of  $\mathbf{DB}$  are measurable (in the same sense).

## Partitions into Borel sets.

Research in this direction was started by Luzin and Sierpiński in [18], where it is shown that every CA-set can be decomposed, in a certain canonical way, into pairwise disjoint Borel sets called constituents, of which there are  $\aleph_1$ . Later (see [17]) a similar result was established for the A-sets themselves; the resulting constituents are described as 'inner'. In an elementary way this implies that such a partition is possible also for the sets of the wider class  $\Sigma_2^1 = A_2$ , since  $\Sigma_2^1$ -sets are projections of CA-sets, and Borel sets project into A-sets. Consequently every R-set can also be partitioned into  $\aleph_1$  Borel sets, since  $\mathbf{R} \subseteq \Delta_2^1 \subseteq \Sigma_2^1$ .

However, it turns out that the canonical partitions of the A-sets and CA-sets into constituents have the key property of regularity with respect to measure, meaning that the measure of a given set is concentrated on countably many terms of the partition, and the same property holds with respect to category, which is not in general true for the simplest construction, which we gave earlier, of the partitions for  $\Sigma_2^1$  sets. The problem of constructing partitions of *R*-sets into Borel sets that are regular with respect to measure and category was solved by Lyapunov in [20] with the help of the following theorem of Kolmogorov.

**Theorem V of** [2]. Suppose that the  $\delta$ s-operation  $\Phi$  with countable index set I is such that  $\Phi \ge \bigcap_{\omega}$  and  $\Phi \Phi \approx \Phi$ . Then the complement of any set of  $(R\Phi)(F)$  is the union of an increasing sequence (of type  $\omega_1$ ) of  $\aleph_1$  sets of the class  $\Phi(F)$ .

**Proof.** In the situation considered in §4 we have  $X = \bigcup_{\alpha} X_{\Lambda\alpha}$ , and because *I* is countable this union is restricted to ordinals  $\alpha < \omega_1$ , while the sets  $X_{s\alpha}$  satisfy the equations (17). If we take the initial sets  $X_r$  to be closed, then under the hypotheses on  $\Phi$  (in the form  $\Phi \ge \bigcup_{\alpha}$  and  $\Phi \Phi \approx \Phi$ ) it is easy to show by induction on  $\alpha$  that each set  $X_{s\alpha}$  belongs to  $\Phi(\mathbf{F})$ . that is, it can be obtained from closed sets by a single application of  $\Phi$ .

Removing from each  $X_{\Lambda\alpha}$  the union of all the  $X_{\Lambda\gamma}$  with indices  $\gamma < \alpha$ , we obtain a partition of X into the sets

$$\breve{X}_{\alpha} = \breve{X}_{\Lambda\alpha} - \bigcup_{\gamma < \alpha} \breve{X}_{\Lambda\gamma} = \{x: \text{ Ind}_{\Lambda} x = \alpha\}, \quad \alpha < \omega_{1}.$$

Under the assumptions of the last theorem each X is the intersection of a set of class  $\Phi(\mathbf{F})$  with one of class  $\Phi(\mathbf{F})$ .

Combining this result with the partition of X itself (which can be obtained with the help of the inner indices: the inner index  $\operatorname{Ind}^* x$  of a point  $x \in X$ may be defined as the least  $\alpha < \omega_1$  such that  $S_{x\alpha} = S_{x,\alpha+1}$ ), and performing an induction on the construction of the operations of the normal series, Lyapunov proved in [20] that each R-set admits a partition into  $\aleph_1$  Borel sets, regular with respect to measure and category. Here, the start of the induction is the case  $\Phi = \bigcup_{\omega}$  (consequently  $R\Phi = A$ ), to which Kolmogorov's theorem is inapplicable (since it is not true that  $\bigcup_{\omega} \ge \bigcap_{\omega}$ ), but the same argument gives the Borel property of sets  $X_{\alpha}$  identical with the classical constituents of the *CA*-sets in the descriptive theory.

## The principle of comparison of indices and its applications.

We again return to the situation considered in §4, and we suppose that  $R\Phi$  is one of the operations  $R_{\alpha}$ ,  $\alpha \ge 1$ , of the normal series, and corresponding to the construction,  $\Phi = \bigcup_{\alpha} \{ X_r \}$ . We also consider the pair of sets  $X = R_{\alpha}\{X_r\}, X' = R_{\alpha}\{X'_r\}$  of the class  $\Sigma \mathbf{R}_{\alpha}$  (where  $X_r, X'_r$  are assumed closed). With the systems of sets  $X_r$  and  $X'_r$  two Kolmogorov index functions are associated:  $\alpha(X) = \operatorname{Ind}_{\Lambda} x$  and  $\alpha'(x) = \operatorname{Ind}_{\Lambda} x$ , where  $\alpha(x) < \omega_1$  for  $x \in X$  and  $\alpha(x) = \omega_1 = \infty$  for  $x \in X$  and similarly for  $\alpha'$ . What is the nature of the set of points x at which  $\alpha(x) \le \alpha'(x)$ ? The answer is as follows.

# **Principle of comparison of indices** (Lyapunov [21]). The set $\{x: \alpha(x) \leq \alpha'(x)\}$ belongs to the class $\Sigma \mathbf{R}_{\alpha}$ .

In actual fact, Lyapunov considered this question in a significantly more general case (see [20] - [24] and [45]). In descriptive set theory, the principle was first established by Novikov for the case corresponding to  $\alpha = 1$  (that is, when  $R_{\alpha}$  is the A-operation; in fact Novikov considered a sieve), and he used it in [27], [28] in order to solve certain problems concerning **B**-measurable implicit functions and C-sets. But the most natural application is to the proof of separation theorems.

The first separation principle is said to hold for some class K (written  $\text{Sep}_1(K)$ ) if any two disjoint sets of this class can be covered by two mutually complementary sets Y, Y' of the same class.

The second separation principle  $\operatorname{Sep}_2(K)$  is said to hold for K if for any pair of K-sets X, X' the sets X - X' and X' - X can be covered by disjoint sets Y, Y' whose complements belong to K.

**Theorem** (Lyapunov [22]). Both separation principles hold for the classes  $\Sigma \mathbf{R}_{\alpha}$  but not for the classes  $\Pi \mathbf{R}_{\alpha}$ .

The 'positive' part for the second principle is proved using the sets

 $Y = \{x: \ \alpha(x) > \alpha'(x)\}, \quad Y' = \{x: \ \alpha'(x) > \alpha(x)\},\$ 

and for the first principle Lyapunov takes the same sets after having arranged that  $\alpha(x) \neq \alpha'(x)$  for all x by a special auxiliary construction. The 'negative' part of the theorem is deduced from the 'positive' part using a doubly universal pair of  $\Sigma \mathbf{R}_{\alpha}$ -sets.

In the descriptive theory, both of the separation principles for the class  $\Sigma R_1(=\Lambda)$ , and non-separation for  $\Pi R_1(=C\Lambda)$ , had been proved by Luzin [17].

In modern research on the *R*-transform and *R*-sets the principle of comparison of indices has been used in the derivation of the important property of normability [45] (also called the principle of complete preordering) for the classes  $\Pi R_{\alpha}$  and for the solution of certain delicate problems about the construction of functions that effect a choice of winning strategy, and concerning sections of plane sets. In particular, in [45], [51], and [70] there is a study of the sets

$$\{x: E^x = \{y: \langle x, y \rangle \notin E\}$$
 is of first category  $\}$ 

for plane sets E of specific classes.

## §8. Kolmogorov's problem on the lengths of Borel hierarchies

Early issues of the journal Fundamenta Mathematicae contained a consecutively numbered series of problems in areas related to the foundations of mathematics. Number 65 is a problem of Kolmogorov [4] which, although it did not become so well known as Suslin's problem (number 3, Fund. Math. 1 (1920), 223), nevertheless aroused considerable interest among experts in set theory (see the book [14], p.140).

Suppose that some initial collection of sets  $F_0$  is given. By induction on  $\alpha$  we define

$$F_{\alpha} = \bigcup_{\omega} (\bigcup_{\gamma < \alpha} F_{\gamma}) \quad \text{or} \quad F_{\alpha} = \bigcap_{\omega} (\bigcup_{\gamma < \alpha} F_{\gamma})$$

according as the ordinal  $\alpha$  is even or odd. Then  $F = F_{\omega_1}$  is the smallest family containing all the sets of  $F_0$  and closed under  $\bigcup_{\omega}$  and  $\bigcap_{\omega}$ . In fact this is one of the possible constructions of the hierarchy of Borel sets, considered in papers in the 20's and 30's: the collection **F** of all closed sets is then chosen for  $F_0$ .

In [65] the least  $\alpha$  such that  $F_{\alpha} = F$  is called the Kolmogorov number  $K(F_0)$  for  $F_0$ . (For  $\alpha \ge 1$  this is equivalent to  $F_{\alpha+1} = F_{\alpha}$ , which is what [4] actually refers to.) Of course  $K(F_0) \le \omega_1$ , and Kolmogorov's problem is to determine for which values of  $\alpha \le \omega_1$  there exists a family  $F_0$  such that  $K(F_0) = \alpha$ .

Miller's paper [65] contains a survey of both classical and modern results on this problem. The main result given by Miller, and ascribed to Kunen, provides a complete solution: for every  $\alpha \leq \omega_1$  there is an initial family  $F_0$ for which  $K(F_0) = \alpha$ . It is interesting that the proof of this given in [65] makes use of the method of forcing, which is usually applied in the derivation of consistency and undecidability results, and so on; here it is used in the solution of a problem in the traditional sense.

## Conclusion

In this survey we have tried to exhibit the original form of the ideas introduced by Kolmogorov as a basis for the theory of operations on sets, the development of the theory under the influence of these ideas, and also their enrichment and the new forms they have taken on during the course of this development.

At present this theory is far from having a completely definitive form, and one can easily discern perspectives for further research. Thus it would be very interesting to obtain non-trivial results on the structure of the class of all  $\delta s$ -operations from the point of view of the "stronger" order of §1. For example, consider the smallest family  $\mathscr{B}$  of operations closed under superposition and containing  $\bigcup_{\omega}$  and  $\bigcap_{\omega}$ . Then  $\Phi \leq A$  for every  $\Phi \in \mathscr{B}$ . Is it

true that  $A \leq \Psi$  for every operation  $\Psi$  that satisfies  $\Phi \leq \Psi$  for all  $\Phi \in \mathscr{B}$ ?

A second important objective is the search for an "operational" way of locking at the class  $\Im \Delta_4^0$ : we know that  $\Im \Delta_1^0$  is the class of Borel sets,  $\Im \Delta_2^0 = \mathbb{C}$ , and  $\Im \Delta_3^0 = \mathbb{R}$ , but it is not clear what the next step ought to be, and more generally what the general principle should be for all  $\Im \Delta_{\alpha}^0$  giving **B**, **C**, and **R** at the first three stages.

Another side of this question is the problem of construction of an inductive analysis for game-theoretical Borel operations similar to that given by Kolmogorov in the case that he considered. In view of the connection between inductive analysis and the proof of determinacy for the corresponding games, discussed in §4, a clue to the solution of this second problem might be looked for in the proof of Martin's theorem [62] on the determinacy of Borel games. Certainly, it is possible to carry out an inductive analysis of game-theoretical  $\Sigma_2^0$ -operations parallel to the proof of determinacy of  $\Sigma_2^0$ -games given by Wolfe [72].

Further, in the theory of operations on sets the operations themselves and their transforms are considered. Is there any sense in considering the next higher level, that is, transforms of transforms? Thus it would be interesting to assign some specific meaning to the expression  $\overrightarrow{RRRRR}$  ...  $\Phi$ .

The above list of unsolved problems could easily have been extended, and there is no doubt that the future development of the theory of operations on sets will reveal new facets of this part of the mathematical legacy of the great mathematician Andrei Nikolaevich Kolmogorov.

#### V.G. Kanovei

#### References

#### Kolmogorov's papers on the theory of operations on sets

- [1] A.N. Kolmogorov, Operations on sets, Mat. Sb. 35 (1928), 414-422. In [5], pp.85-92.
- [2] ---, Operations on sets, II. In [6], pp.294-303.<sup>(1)</sup> [3] ---, P.S. Aleksandrov and the theory of  $\delta s$ -operations, Uspekhi Mat. Nauk 21:4 (1966), 275-288. MR 33 # 2783. In [5], pp.352-356. = Russian Math. Surveys 21:4 (1966), 247-250.
- [4] —, Problème 65, Fund. Math. 25 (1935), 578.
- [5] —, Izbrannye trudy. Matematika i mekhanika (Selected works. Mathematics and mechanics), Nauka, Moscow 1985. MR 88d:01043.
- [6] ———, Teoriva informatsii i teoriva algoritmov (Information theory and the theory of algorithms), Nauka, Moscow 1987. MR 89a:01104.

Classical theory of operations on sets and classical descriptive set theory

- [7] P. Alexandroff, Sur la puissance des ensembles mesurables (B), C.R. Acad. Sci. Paris 162 (1916), 323-325. Translation: P.S. Aleksandrov, Teoriya funktsii deistvitel'nogo peremennogo i teoriya topologicheskikh prostranstv (Theory of functions of a real variable and theory of topological spaces), Nauka, Moscow 1978, pp.35-39. MR 80f:01024.
- -, Sur les ensembles complémentaires aux ensembles (A), Fund. Math. 5 [8] -(1924), 160-165.
- [9] V.G. Kanovei, Development of descriptive set theory under the influence of N.N. Luzin's work, Uspekhi Mat. Nauk 40:3 (1985), 117-155. MR 87b:01028b. = Russian Math. Surveys 40:3 (1985), 135-180.
- [10] L. Kantorovitch and E. Livenson, Memoir on the analytical operations and projective sets (I), Fund. Math. 18 (1932), 214-279.
- and -----, Memoir on the analytical operations and projective sets (II), [11] ----Fund. Math. 20 (1933), 54-97.
- and -----, Sur quelques théorèmes concernant la théorie des ensembles [12] projectifs, C.R. Acad. Sci. Paris 204 (1937), 466-468.
- [13] Z.I. Kozlova and A.A. Lyapunov, Descriptive set theory, in: Istoriya otechestvennoi matematiki (History of national mathematics), vol. 4, book 2, Naukova Dumka, Kiev 1970, pp.393-407.
- [14] K. Kuratowski and A. Mostowski, Set theory, PWN, Warsaw and North-Holland, Amsterdam 1968. MR 37 # 5100. Translation: Teoriya mnozhestv, Mir, Moscow 1970. MR 42 # 2944.
- [15] ——, Topology, vol. I, PWN, Warsaw and Academic Press, New York 1966. MR 36 # 840.

Translation: Topologiya, vol. I, Mir, Moscow 1966. MR 36 # 839.

[16] H. Lebesgue, Sur les fonctions representables analytiquement, J. Math. Pures Appl. (6) 1 (1905), 139-216.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>(1)</sup>As stated in [5] p.364, the manuscript, dated February 1922, was rediscovered only after [5] had gone to press, and it was therefore published in [6] and not together with [1] in [5].

- [17] N.N. Luzin, Leçons sur les ensembles analytiques et leurs applications, Gauthier-Villars, Paris 1930; reprinted and corrected, Chelsea, New York 1972. MR 52 # 13282. Translation: Lektsii ob analiticheskikh mnozhestv i ikh prilozheniyakh, Gostekhizdat, Moscow 1953. MR 16-21. In [17a], pp.16-269.
  [17a] ——, Sobranie sochinenii (Collected works), vol. 2, Izdat. Akad. Nauk SSSR,
- Acad. Sci. Cracovie Ser. A 4-5A (1918), 35-48. Translation: in [17a], pp.273-284.
- [19] A.A. Lyapunov, On R-sets, Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 58 (1947), 1887-1890.
   MR 9-339.
- [20] —, R-sets, Trudy Mat. Inst. Steklov 40 (1953), 1-68. MR 16-226. In [25b], pp.85-131.
- [21] —, On the classification of *R*-sets, Mat. Sb. 32 (1953), 255-262.
   MR 16-226. In [25b], pp.134-140.
- [22] ——, Separability and non-separability of *R*-sets, Mat. Sb. 32 (1953), 515-532.
   MR 14-1069. In [25b], pp.141-155.
- [23] ———, On operations on sets admitting transfinite indexes, Trudy Moskov. Mat. Obshch. 6 (1957), 195-230. MR 19-521. In [25b], pp.169-200.
- [24] ——, Operations on sets, Algebra i Logika 2:2 (1963), 47-56. MR 27 # 3556. In [25b], pp.201-208.
- [25] ———, The method of transfinite indices in the theory of operations over sets, Trudy Mat. Inst. Steklov 133 (1973), 132-148, 275. MR 51 # 5921. In [25b], pp.209-223.
- [25b] ———. Voprosy teorii mnozhestv i teorii funktsii (Questions of set theory and function theory), Nauka, Moscow 1979. MR 81c:01033.
   (Reference added by translator.)
- [26] ——— and P.S. Novikov, Descriptive set theory, in: Matematika v SSSR za 30 let (Mathematics in the USSR after 30 years), Gostekhizdat, Moscow-Leningrad 1948, pp.243-255. In [28b], pp.96-107.
- [27] P.S. Novikov, On the relationship between the second class of projective sets and the projections of uniform analytic complements, Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat. 1 (1937), 231-252. In [28b], pp.64-77.
- [28] ——, The separability of C-sets, Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat. 1 (1937), 253-264. In [28b], pp.78-85.
- [28b] ——, Izbrannye trudy. Teoriya mnozhestv i funktsii. Matematicheskaya logika i algebra (Selected works. Theory of sets and functions. Mathematical logic and algebra), Nauka, Moscow 1979. MR 80i:01017. (Reference added by translator.)
- [29] Yu.S. Ochan, The theory of operations over sets, Uspekhi Mat. Nauk 10:3 (1955), 71-128. MR 17-717.
- [30] I.I. Parovichenko, *Teoriya operatsii nad mnozhestvami* (Theory of operations on sets), Shtiintsa, Kishinev 1981. With an English summary. MR 83m:04001.
- [31] E.A. Selivanovskii, On a class of effective sets (the C-sets), Mat. Sb. 35 (1928), 379-413.
- [32] M. Souslin, Sur une définition des ensembles mesurables B sans nombres transfinis, C.R. Acad. Sci. (Paris) 164 (1917), 88-90.
- [33] V.A. Uspenskii, The contribution of N.N. Luzin to descriptive set theory: concepts, problems, predictions, Uspekhi Mat. Nauk 40:3 (1985), 85-116. MR 87b:01028a.
  = Russian Math. Surveys 40:3 (1985), 97-134.

- [34] F. Hausdorff, Mengenlehre, 2nd ed., W. de Gruyter, Berlin 1927.
- [35] ——, *Teoriya mnozhestv* (Set theory): Translation of [34] by N.B. Vedenisov, edited with addenda by P.S. Aleksandrov and A.N. Kolmogorov, ONTI, Moscow-Leningrad 1937.
- [36] M.M. Choban, Operations over sets, Sibirsk. Mat. Zh. 16 (1975), 1332-1351.
  MR 54 # 7266.
  = Siberian Math. J. 16 (1975), 1024-1039 (1976).

#### Modern theory of operations on sets and related questions

- [37] P. Aczel, An introduction to inductive definitions, in: Handbook of mathematical logic, North-Holland, Amsterdam 1977, pp.739-785. MR 58 # 5109. Translation: Nauka, Moscow 1982; Part III. Recursion theory, pp.224-268. MR 84g:03004b.
- [38] V.G. Kanovei, Aksioma vybora i aksioma determinirovannosti (The axiom of choice and the axiom of determinateness), Nauka, Moscow 1984. MR 86h:03085.
- [39] ———, The axiom of determinacy and the modern development of descriptive set theory, in *Itogi nauki i tekhniki*. Algebra, topologiya, geometriya (Advances in science and technology. Algebra, topology, geometry), vol. 23, Nauka, Moscow 1985, pp.3-50.
- [40] A.S. Kechris and Y.N. Moschovakis, Recursion in higher types, in: Handbook of mathematical logic, North-Holland, Amsterdam 1977, pp.681-737. MR 58 # 5109. Translation: Nauka, Moscow 1982; Part III. Recursion theory, pp.166-223. MR 84g:03004b.
- [41] D.A. Martin, Descriptive set theory: projective sets, in: Handbook of mathematical logic, North-Holland, Amsterdam 1977, pp.783-815. MR 58 # 5109. Translation: Nauka, Moscow 1982; Part II. Set theory, pp.235-272. MR 84g:03004a.
- [42] S.M. Ulam, A collection of mathematical problems, Interscience, New York 1960. MR 22 # 10884.
  Also in: Stanislaw Ulam: sets, numbers, and universes, MIT Press, Cambridge 1974, 505-670.
  Translation: Nereshennye matematicheskiye zadachi, Nauka, Moscow 1964.
- [43] S.O. Aanderaa, Inductive definitions and their closure ordinals, in: Generalized recursion theory (Proc. Sympos. Oslo 1972), North-Holland, Amsterdam 1974, pp.207-220. MR 52 # 13388.
- [44] P. Aczel, Quantifiers, games and inductive definitions, in: Proceedings of the Third Scandinavian Logic Symposium (Uppsala 1973), North-Holland, Amsterdam 1975, pp.1-14. MR 54 # 12477.
- [45] R. Barua, R-sets and category, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 286 (1984), 125-158.
- [46] D. Blackwell, Borel-programmable functions, Ann. Probability 6 (1978), 321-324.
   MR 57 # 566.
- [47] J.P. Burgess, What are R-sets? In: Patras Logic Symposium (Patras 1980), North-Holland, Amsterdam 1982, pp.307-324. MR 85b:03086.
- [48] ——, Classical hierarchies from a modern standpoint. Part I. C-sets, Fund. Math. 115 (1983), 81-95.
- [49] ———, Classical hierarchies from a modern standpoint. Part II. R-sets, Fund. Math. 115 (1983), 97-105.
- [50] ——— and R.A. Lockhart, Classical hierarchies from a modern standpoint. Part III. BP-sets, Fund. Math. 115 (1983), 107-118.

- [51] J.P. Burgess and D.E. Miller, Remarks on invariant descriptive set theory, Fund. Math. 90 (1975), 53-75. MR 53 # 7784.
- [52] J.E. Fenstad and D. Normann, On absolutely measurable sets, Fund. Math. 81 (1974), 91-98. MR 49 # 3065.
- [53] C. Freiling, Banach games, J. Symb. Logic 49 (1984), 343-375. MR 86c:03046.
- [54] D. Gale and F.M. Stewart, Infinite games with perfect information, in: Contributions to the theory of games, vol. 2, Ann. of Math. Studies 28, Princeton 1953, pp.245-266. MR 14-999.
- [55] L.A. Harrington, The Kolmogorov *R*-operator and the first non-projective ordinal. Mimeographed notes, 1975.
- [56] ——— and A.S. Kechris, On monotone vs. nonmonotone induction, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 82 (1976), 888-890. MR 55 # 10259.
- [57] P.G. Hinman, Hierarchies of effective descriptive set theory, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 142 (1969), 111-140. MR 42 # 74.
- [58] \_\_\_\_\_, The finite levels of the hierarchy of effective *R*-sets, Fund. Math. 79 (1973), 1-10. MR 52 # 10396.
- [60] A.S. Kechris, Forcing in analysis, in: Higher set theory (Proc. Conf. Oberwolfach, 1977), Lecture Notes in Math. 669 (1978), 277-302. MR 80c:03051.
- [61] ——, Spector second order classes and reflection, in: Generalized recursion theory, II (Proc. Sympos. Oslo, 1977), North-Holland, Amsterdam 1978, pp.147-183. MR 81i:03072.
- [62] D.A. Martin, Borel determinacy, Ann. of Math. (2) 102 (1975), 363-371.
   MR 53 \$\pm 7785.
- [63] ——— and A.S. Kechris, Infinite games and effective descriptive set theory, in: Analytic sets (Conf. London, 1978), Academic Press, London 1980, pp.403-470. MR 82m:03063.
- [64] R.D. Mauldin (editor), The Scottish Book. Mathematics from the Scottish Café, Bickhäuser, Boston 1981. MR 84m:00015.
- [65] A.W. Miller, On the length of Borel hierarchies, Ann. Math. Logic 16 (1979), 233-267. MR 80m:04003.
- [66] Y.N. Moschovakis, Elementary induction on abstract structures, North-Holland, Amsterdam 1974. MR 53 # 2661.
- [67] ——, Descriptive set theory, North-Holland, Amsterdam 1980. MR 82e:03002.
- [68] K. Schilling, Absolutely  $\Delta_2^1$  operations and the Baire property, Abstracts Amer. Math. Soc. 1 (1980), 239. Abstract #80T-E22.
- [69] and R. Vaught, Borel games and the Baire property, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 279 (1983), 411-428. MR 85d:04004.
- [70] R.L. Vaught, Invariant sets in topology and logic, Fund. Math. 82 (1974), 269-294.
   MR 51 # 167.
- [71] ——— and K. Schilling, Borel game operations and the Baire property, Notices Amer. Math. Soc. 26 (1979), A-247. Abstract #764-E1.
- [72] P. Wolfe, The strict determinateness of certain infinite games, Pacific J. Math. 5 (1955), 841-847. MR 17-506.

Translated by Roy O. Davies

Moscow Institute of Transport Engineers

Received by the Editors 25 January 1988